
For any apologies or requests for further information, or to give notice of a question to be 
asked by a member of the public  
Contact:  Mark Nedderman  
Tel: 01270 529640 
E-Mail: mark.nedderman@cheshireeast.gov.uk  

 

Corporate Scrutiny Committee 
 

Agenda 
 

Date: Tuesday, 1st September, 2009 

Time: 10.30 am 

Venue: Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, Middlewich Road, 
Sandbach CW11 1HZ 

 
The agenda is divided into 2 parts. Part 1 is taken in the presence of the public and press. 
Part 2 items will be considered in the absence of the public and press for the reasons 
indicated on the agenda and at the foot of each report. 
 
PART 1 – MATTERS TO BE CONSIDERED WITH THE PUBLIC AND PRESS PRESENT 
 

1. Apologies   
 
2. Minutes of Previous Meeting  (Pages 1 - 4) 
 
3. Declarations of Interest   
 
 To provide an opportunity for Members and Officers to declare any personal and/or 

prejudicial interests and for members to declare the existence of a party whip in relation to 
any item on the agenda.  

 
 

4. Public Speaking Time/Open Session   
 
 In accordance with Procedure Rules Nos.11 and 35 a total period of 10 minutes is allocated 

for members of the public to address the Committee on any matter relevant to the work of the 
Committee. 
  
Individual members of the public may speak for up to 5 minutes but the Chairman will decide 
how the period of time allocated for public speaking will be apportioned where there are a 
number of speakers. 
  
Note: In order for officers to undertake any background research it would be helpful if 
questions were submitted at least one working day before the meeting. 

 
 

Public Document Pack



5. Local Development Framework   
 
 To receive a presentation from John Knight Head of Planning and Policy. 

 
6. 2008/09 Performance Outturn/ Performance Inheritance  (Pages 5 - 24) 
 
 To consider a report and receive a presentation by the Head of Policy and Performance. 

 
7. Member Training   
 
 The Chairman to lead a discussion about specific Overview and Scrutiny Member training 

requirements. 
 

8. Work Programme Progress Report  (Pages 25 - 32) 
 
 (a) To note the current Work Programme progress report and to review items within the 

work programme in line with guidance contained in the report 
 

(b) To draw members particular attention to the item relating to the performance of 
Shared Services. 

 
9. Task and Finish Groups Progress Reports   
 
 (a) To receive a progress report from the Chairman on of the Role and Funding of the 

Voluntary Sector Task and Finish Group.  
 

(b) To receive progress report from the Vice Chairman on Member IT facilities.  
 

10. Start Time of Meetings  (Pages 33 - 38) 
 
 To consider a report of the Democratic Services Manager  

 
11. Strengthening Local Democracy - DCLG Consultation  (Pages 39 - 100) 
 
 To consider a report of the Borough Solicitor. 

 
12. Forward Plan  (Pages 101 - 106) 
 
 To note the current forward plan, identify any new items, and to determine whether any 

further examination of new issues is appropriate. 
 



CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

Minutes of a meeting of the Corporate Scrutiny Committee 
held on Monday, 13th July, 2009 at Committee Suite 1,2 & 3, Westfields, 

Middlewich Road, Sandbach CW11 1HZ 
 

PRESENT 
 
Councillor A Thwaite (Chairman) 
Councillor J Narraway (Vice-Chairman) 
 
Councillors A Arnold, G Baxendale, D Bebbington, S Conquest, J Crockatt, 
M Davies, P Edwards, A Richardson, D Stockton and D Topping 

 
Apologies 

 
Councillors G Barton and S Wilkinson 

 
16 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE  

 
17 OFFICERS PRESENT  

 
Russ Glennon 
Chris Mann 
Alex Thompson 
Janis Grant 
Mark Nedderman 

 
 

18 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED – That the minutes of the meeting held on 12 June 2009 be 
approved as a correct record. 
 

19 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest, or imposition of a party whip. 

 
 

20 PUBLIC SPEAKING TIME/OPEN SESSION  
 
There were no questions. 

 
 

21 MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL STRATEGY  
 
The Committee considered a report of the Borough Treasurer and Head of 
Assets on the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) 2010-2013 which was 
due to be considered by Cabinet at its meeting to be held on 14 July 2009. 
 

Agenda Item 2Page 1



The report detailed the business Planning proposals to develop a performance 
framework linked to a MTFS 2010 –2013 and to budget planning for 2010-2011. 
 
The Committee had been asked to comment on the budget process, the 
processes and deadlines for 2010 and beyond. 
 
The committee discussed the MTFS on a page by page basis and raised the 
following comments  
 

No. Section No. / Reference Scrutiny Comment 

1 General Comment The approach to involving the scrutiny 
function in the budget setting process 
should be more clearly stated and 
recognised  

2 General Comment The use of the term scrutiny should 
clearly identify the context (ie specific 
committee, corporate scrutiny, generic 
scrutiny)  

3 
 

11.7 
Timetable/September 
“Member / Officer 
challenge” 

Include reference to Scrutiny 

4 
 

11.10 
Para 5 

- Include reference to Scrutiny 
- Cabinet need to define ‘Star 

Chamber’ and clarify the 
membership 

- Amend wording to show “Star 
Chamber to make final decisions on 
recommended budget proposals” 

5 
 

Appendix A, Para 3 
 
Para 8 

- Change “Member Input” to “Cabinet 
Input” 

- Delete reference to “opposition” 

6 
 

Appendix B 
Dedicated Schools Grant 
and Standards Fund 

Scrutiny members felt further training 
was needed in this area 

7 Appendix B – Annex ‘Consultation’ should specifically include 
Scrutiny input   

8 
 

Appendix C, Council Tax 
on Second Homes etc  

Is there going to be a review of this 
policy, if so when? And, can Scrutiny be 
involved in the process? 

9 
 

Appendix E - iii Should include specific reference to 
Scrutiny 

10 
 

Appendix E - iv Change “Savings of £12m were 
delivered…” to “Savings of £12m were 
identified in the budget…” 

11 
 

Appendix E - vii Change to “Cabinet members have 
expressed…” 

12 
p84 
 
 
 
 
 

Capital Strategy, 8.2 – 
8.11 

- change name of ‘Capital Scrutiny 
Panel’ to avoid confusion with wider 
scrutiny function 

- Overview & Scrutiny should have a 
role in the initial assessment (8.6), 
and therefore have an input to 
schemes that will be submitted to 

Page 2



 
P85 

the panel (8.9)  
- ‘panel’ should provide list of all 

schemes (with reasons for 
recommendations on each project) 
for reference to Corporate Scrutiny 
and wider consultation.  

13 
 
 

Appendix G Note Member Finance Training is 2pm, 
16th July (Municipal Bldgs, Crewe) – not 
13th 

 
 
 
RERSOLVED – That the above comments be forwarded to Cabinet on 14 July 
2009. 
 

22 WORK PROGRAMME PROGRESS REPORT  
 
The committee reviewed the work programme 2009/2010 which had been 
approved by the Committee on 12 June 2009. 
 
The Senior Scrutiny Officer informed Members that ameeting to scope the review 
of the role, performance and funding of voluntary organisations would be held 
within the next two weeks. 
 
The Vice Chairman informed members that the Resources Portfolio Holder had 
set up a member/officer panel to progress Members It provision, and that 
consequently, the Task and Finish group set up by this committee at its previous 
meeting would now cease work in this area to avoid duplication. The terms of 
reference of the panel working under the Portfolio holder had not yet been 
finalised, and therefore the Scrutiny Task and Finish group would be retained and 
held in abeyance awaiting confirmation of the remit of the new panel.  
 
The Leader of the Council had requested the committee to examine the start 
times of meetings in the calendar of meetings. The Chairman informed the 
committee that it would be difficult to make significant changes to the 2009/2010 
calendar, that the efforts of the committee should concentrate on the 2010/2011 
calendar and that matter be given a medium priority in the work programme. 
 
RESOLVED – That  
 
 

(a) The Work programme be noted; 
  

(b) It be noted that a Members Officer IT panel has been set up under the 
auspices of the Resources Portfolio Holder, and that consequently, the 
Member IT Task and Finish Group approved by this Committee be held in 
abeyance until such time as the Terms of Reference of the Portfolio 
Holder group are known   

  
(c) An item be added into the work programme relating to the start times of 

meetings, and the Democratic Services Manager be requested to submit 
a report to the next meeting outlining the implications of the various 
options available to the Council; 

  

Page 3



 
 

23 FORWARD PLAN - EXTRACTS  
 
The Committee considered the items currently on the Forward Plan that related to 
the Corporate Scrutiny Committee. 
  
RESOLVED – (a) That the contents of the Forward plan be noted. 
 
     (b) That the full forward plan be submitted to future meetings. 
  

 
 
 
 
 

The meeting commenced at 2.30 pm and concluded at 4.45 pm 
 

Councillor A Thwaite (Chairman) 
 

 

Page 4



CHESHIRE EAST 
 
CORPORATE SCRUTINY MEETING 

 
Date of meeting: 1 September 2009   
Report of:  Head of Policy and Performance 
Title:   Performance Report 
 ________________________________________________________________ 
 
 
1.0 Purpose of Report 
 
The purpose of this paper is to provide Corporate Scrutiny Committee members with an 
overview of performance for Cheshire East, It provides a report of out-turn measures for 
2008-09 reconfigured to Cheshire East from County Council and District Councils’ 
performance.  It will help highlight issues inherited from predecessor authorities and 
also identify strengths to build on.  
 
Attached as appendices are: 

• A spreadsheet of 2008-09 performance against the National Indicator Set 

• A summary of the Place Survey carried out to support the national indicators and to 
provide benchmark ‘place’ information 

 
2.0 Decision required 
 
Note the overview of performance detailed in appendix 1 
Note the findings of the Place Survey and the proposal to carry out further analysis 
 
4.0 Financial implications 
A paper on the financial position for the first quarter went to Cabinet on 11 August.  For 
mid-year it is proposed that an integrated performance and finance report will be 
submitted. 
 
5.0 Legal implications 
Cheshire East Council has a duty to formally submit performance data returns at timely 
intervals against national indicators. 
 
7.0 National Indicators 
 
The Government introduced a set of new national indicators for collection from 2008/09, 
replacing the previous Best Value indicators.   Performance against each of these 
indicators is being used to benchmark and monitor performance nationally, particularly 
in relation to the new Comprehensive Area Assessment agenda. 
 
These indicators are intended to encourage closer partnership working with other local 
partners - including PCTs and the Police - and therefore strengthen opportunities to 

Agenda Item 6Page 5



deliver joined-up outcomes and work more flexibly to tackle local issues, with improved 
focus on driving Local Area Agreement priorities. 
 
Approximately half of the new national indicators are based on existing data sources, 
meaning the process of target setting and establishment of baseline data has been 
achievable for many indicators.  However, for the remaining ‘new’ indicators, 2008/09 
has served as the baseline year. 
 
As in previous years, there are indicators where accurate outturn data is delayed by the 
mechanisms of external analysis (e.g. accurate waste tonnages), and indicators based 
on annual snapshot data which sits outside the traditional year-end timescales.  
Collection of a small number of the national indicators was deferred by CLG until 
2009/10. 
 
Within Cheshire in 2008/09, the majority of the national indicator set was pertinent for 
collection solely by the former Cheshire County Council (as the majority of indicators 
were applicable to single tier and county councils), but work has been undertaken to 
disaggregate 2008/09 data wherever possible to provide Cheshire East outturn results.  
Equally, for data applicable to and collected by former district councils in 2008/09, 
outturn results have been aggregated wherever possible to provide a Cheshire East 
baseline.   
 
Appendix 1 shows baseline data for 2007/08, where it has been possible to make a 
calculation, and out-turns for 2008-09.  A few gaps remain but most data have been 
successfully collected.   
 
8 Comprehensive Area Assessment 
 
The new Comprehensive Assessment regime, replacing Comprehensive Performance 
Assessment (CPA) became operational in April 2009.  It is an area-based process 
focused on outcomes delivered by the council and its partners.  The Audit Commission 
has produced a framework for the delivery of CAA and is applying this framework to 
develop an initial analysis of how the council and partners understand and address local 
communities and their needs.  The outcome of this is an ‘emerging thoughts’ document 
of their first assessment.  . 
 
The new system will give areas a scored assessment and will also highlight red flag and 
green flag areas.  The former are areas of concern, the latter areas of exemplary 
performance.   As part of emerging thoughts the Audit Commission have identified 
some ‘red tags’.  These are future possible red flags for the final assessment.  They 
include: 

• Understanding our diverse communities 

• Health inequalities, in particular teenage pregnancy 

• Dealing with recession 

• Affordable housing 

• Understanding an ageing population 

Page 6



 
For 2009/10 as a new authority there will not be a scored assessment.  However the 
Commission have made few other concessions to the issues associated with local 
government review.  They have received our initial responses and additional response 
is being drafted.  A first draft of the assessment will be completed during August, 
beginning with the areas where there are no highlighted performance issues.   
 
The Council needs to ensure that it deals with issues raised through red tagging, while 
acknowledging that there may be one or more red flags in the final assessment.  Our 
aim must be to deal with these issues and ensure that the council can show how it 
plans to improve these areas. 

 
9 Place Survey 
 
A first comparative analysis of the Place Survey is attached as appendix 2.  This 
provides some important messages for the council.  It is proposed that the analysis be 
followed by further detailed investigation and reporting to support planning by services 
and in local areas.   
 
10 Future performance reporting 
 
It is the aim of Policy and Performance to keep Members and officers fully briefed about 
ongoing performance and about issues that may need attention.  We also intend the 
relationship between finance and performance to be a clear and explicit one with 
quarterly reporting linking achievements and resource use.  For the first quarter of 
2009-10 there have been difficulties (linked to the nature of many of the new measures) 
in collecting national indicator data.  However a full mid-year report will be produced for 
November Cabinet and for Corportae Scrutiny Committee.  A wider programme for 
Scrutiny engagement with performance management is also being drawn up which will 
ensure a strong overview of the council’s delivery. 
 
 For further information: 
 
Portfolio holder: Councillor David Brown 
Officer:  Janis Grant, Planning and Performance Manager 
Tel No.   01270 537396 
Email   Janis.grant@cheshireeast.gov.uk 
 

Page 7



Page 8

This page is intentionally left blank



NI Title Council 

Priority

Emerging 

Thoughts 

Priority

Reporting 

Organisations

Cheshire 

Baseline 

(2007/08 unless 

specified)

Cheshire 

East 

Baseline 

2007/08

Cheshire 

Outturn 

(2008/09)

Cheshire 

East Outturn 

2008/09

Comments/Issues

1 % of people who believe people from different 

backgrounds get on well together in their local area
Council

66% (80% FTI) 

(06-07)
80% (06-07) 78.9%

Place Survey indicator. 

Unweighted results likely to be 

available early January 2009. 

2 % of people who feel that they belong to their 

neighbourhood
Council 61.5%

Place Survey indicator. 

Unweighted results likely to be 

available early January 2009. 

3 Civic participation in the local area

Yes Yes Council 66.0% 12.9%

Place Survey indicator. 

Unweighted results likely to be 

available early January 2009. 

4 % of people who feel they can influence decisions in 

their locality
Yes Yes Council 35% (06-07) 33% (06-07) 24.2%

Place Survey indicator. 

Unweighted results likely to be 

available early January 2009. 

5 Overall / general satisfaction with local area

Council
91% (79% FTI) 

(06-07)
77% (06-07) 84.6%

Place Survey indicator. 

Unweighted results likely to be 

available early January 2009. 

6 Participation in regular volunteering

Council 38.0% 23.9%

Place Survey indicator. 

Unweighted results likely to be 

available early January 2009. 

7 Environment for a thriving third sector 3RD PARTIES 16.4% Unavailable

8 Adult participation in sport and active recreation

Yes Yes Council 26.0% 23.2% 25.0%

Active People Survey carried 

out by Sport England - Annual 

survey reported in November 

each year

9 Use of public libraries

Council 73.0%

73% 

(Cheshire 

Baseline)

51.9% 53.1%

Active People Survey carried 

out by Sport England - Annual 

survey reported in November 

each year

10 Visits to museums and galleries

Council 56.7% 53.5%

Active People Survey carried 

out by Sport England - Annual 

survey reported in November 

each year

11 Engagement in the arts

Council 47.5% 47.8%

Active People Survey carried 

out by Sport England - Annual 

survey reported in November 

each year

13 Migrants’ English language skills and knowledge
Council

It is not known when this 

information will be available.

14 Reducing avoidable contact: minimising the proportion 

of customer contact that is of low or no value to the 

customer

Yes Council None set 9.3% 16.6%

15 Serious violent crime

Yes POLICE 0.32 (221) 0.27 (97) 0.3 (213) 0.3 (109)

Cheshire West population used 

of 325,000. Data shown 

expressed per 1,000 

population

16 Serious acquisitive crime 

POLICE 12.6 (8623) 11.9 (4279) 10.9 (7479) 10.2 (3665)

Cheshire West population used 

of 325,000. Data shown 

expressed per 1,000 

population

17 Perceptions of anti-social behaviour 

Yes Council 16.3%

Place Survey indicator. 

Unweighted results likely to be 

available early January 2009. 

Cheshire Constabulary collect 

similar information through the 

British Crime Survey - collected 

continuously, rolling annual 

estimates reported quarterly

18 Adult re-offending rates for those under probation 

supervision

Yes Yes PROBATION 36% (06-07) 8.7% 8.6%

8.53% 

(predicted 

8.74% based 

on cohort of 

3318)

The result shown for Cheshire 

is that calculated using the 

latest information available 

which is December 2007. It 

cpmpares the actual re-

offending rate (8.4%) with the 

predicted re-offending rate 

(8.6%).

Data will be available end of 

August 2009

19 Rate of proven re-offending by young offenders

Council 43.20%
 -17.8% at 6 

months
Unavailable

Information available on a 

Cheshire East and West basis. 

Quarterly information only 

available three months after a 

quarter has passed in order to 

take account of any court 

proceedings. 

Page 9



NI Title Council 

Priority

Emerging 

Thoughts 

Priority

Reporting 

Organisations

Cheshire 

Baseline 

(2007/08 unless 

specified)

Cheshire 

East 

Baseline 

2007/08

Cheshire 

Outturn 

(2008/09)

Cheshire 

East Outturn 

2008/09

Comments/Issues

20 Assault with injury crime rate 

Yes Yes POLICE
6.71 (4573) (06-

07)
6.0 (4134) 5.2 (1868)

Cheshire County Council 

population used: 681,500, 

Cheshire West 325,000

Performance for period 1 April 

2008 to 30 September 2008

Disaggregated action plans 

now developed, specifically 

targeting Home Office 

classifications

21 Dealing with local concerns about anti-social behaviour 

and crime by the local council and police

Yes Yes Council 25.4%

Place Survey indicator. 

Unweighted results likely to be 

available early January 2009. 

Cheshire Constabulary collect 

similar information through the 

British Crime Survey - collected 

continuously, rolling annual 

estimates reported quarterly

22 Perceptions of parents taking responsibility for the 

behaviour of their children in the area
Council 62% (06-07) 62% (06-07) 34.4%

Place Survey indicator. 

Unweighted results likely to be 

available early January 2009. 

23 Perceptions that people in the area treat one another 

with respect and consideration 
Council 48% (06-07) 47% (06-07) 25.6%

Place Survey indicator. 

Unweighted results likely to be 

available early January 2009. 

26 Specialist support to victims of a serious sexual 

offence
POLICE

Implementation deferred until 

2009/10. Included in DCLG NI 

consultation paper published 

September 2008

27 Understanding of local concerns about anti-social 

behaviour and crime by the local council and police

Yes Council 25.0%

Place Survey indicator. 

Unweighted results likely to be 

available early January 2009. 

Cheshire Constabulary collect 

similar information through the 

British Crime Survey - collected 

continuously, rolling annual 

estimates reported quarterly

28 Serious knife crime rate

POLICE 0.64 (441) 0.54 (193) 0.5 (357) 0.4 (147)

Cheshire West population used 

of 325,000. Data shown 

expressed per 1,000 

population

29 Gun crime rate

POLICE 0.09 (63) 0.06 (23) 0.1 (53) 0.1 (27)

Cheshire West population used 

of 325,000. Data shown 

expressed per 1,000 

population

30 Re-offending rate of prolific and priority offenders

Yes Yes PROBATION 16.3% (06-07) 14.0%

Waiting for 

data to be 

provided by 

the Home 

Office

Unavailable

Data for NI30 will be collected 

by Ministry of Justice and this 

will be inaccurate, so we 

propose to collect our own data 

from the PNC using central 

Police resources.  Q1 2008/09 

data will be available end of 

July 2009.

32 Repeat incidents of domestic violence

Yes POLICE 30.4% (06-07) 34.0% 26.5% 31.0%

Implementation deferred until 

2009/10. Included in DCLG NI 

consultation paper published 

September 2008.

Partners continuing to 

undertake work to refine the 

performance data gathering 

arrangements for this indicator.

33 Arson incidents  Yes Yes FIRE 2919 (06-07) 994 882

34 Domestic violence - murder

POLICE 0.003 (2) 0.003 (1) 0.0 (1) 0.0 (1)

Cheshire West population used 

of 325,000. Data shown 

expressed per 1,000 

population

35 Building resilience to violent extremism

POLICE 2 2

To be trialled and evaluated 

during 2008/09. Will not be 

published or used for 

assessment in APACS in 

2008/09. 

Assessment framework 

published . Assessment 

against framework to be 

undertaken by Local Strategic 

Partnership

Page 10



NI Title Council 

Priority

Emerging 

Thoughts 

Priority

Reporting 

Organisations

Cheshire 

Baseline 

(2007/08 unless 

specified)

Cheshire 

East 

Baseline 

2007/08

Cheshire 

Outturn 

(2008/09)

Cheshire 

East Outturn 

2008/09

Comments/Issues

36 Protection against terrorist attack 

POLICE

To be trialled and evaluated 

during 2008/09. Will not be 

published or used for 

assessment in APACS in 

2008/09.  It is not known when 

this information will be  

available.

Rating scale is 1 to 5 with 5 

being the highest rating - very 

high level of vulnerability. 

Although the reporting 

organisation is the Home 

Office, six month reviews to be 

undertaken by local Counter-

Terrorist Security Advisers to 

assess whether current rating 

still applicable.

37 Awareness of civil protection arrangements in the local 

area
Council 11.0%

Place Survey indicator. 

Unweighted results likely to be 

available early January 2009. 

38 Drug-related (Class A) offending

Yes POLICE

Implementation deferred until 

2009/10. Included in DCLG NI 

consultation paper published 

September 2008

39 Rate of Hospital Admissions per 100,000 for Alcohol 

Related Harm
PCT

Based on Western Cheshire 

PCT area.

40 Number of drug users recorded as being in effective 

treatment
PCT 1858

41 Perceptions of drunk or rowdy behaviour as a problem

Yes Council 32% (06-07) 35% (06-07) 29.5%

Place Survey indicator. 

Unweighted results likely to be 

available early January 2009. 

Cheshire Constabulary collect 

similar information through the 

British Crime Survey - collected 

continuously, rolling annual 

estimates reported quarterly

42 Perceptions of drug use or drug dealing as a problem

Yes Council 45% (06-07) 43% (06-07) 26.0%

Place Survey indicator. 

Unweighted results likely to be 

available early January 2009. 

Cheshire Constabulary collect 

similar information through the 

British Crime Survey - collected 

continuously, rolling annual 

estimates reported quarterly

43 Young people within the Youth Justice System 

receiving a conviction in court who are sentenced to 

custody

Council 5.46% (06-07) 5.6%

44 Ethnic composition of offenders on Youth Justice 

System disposals

Council
0.2% (FTI-1.03%) 

(06-07)

2007/08                                                      

All BME = -

1.1%                          

White = 

+1.1%                                      

Mixed = -

0.2%            

Black/Black 

british = -

0.2%                                

Asian/Asian 

british = -

0.3%                                

Chinese/othe

r = -0.4%

45 Young offenders’ engagement in suitable education, 

training and employment
Council 71.3% 69.2% 67.8% (Q3)

46 Young Offenders’ access to suitable accommodation
Council 100.0% 100.0% 99.4% (Q3)

47 People killed or seriously injured in road traffic 

accidents

Yes Yes Council 537 (June 2007)
280 (June 

2007)

2008 = 529                                             

3 Yr/Av = 

512                                                    

4.7% 

reduction

2008 = 311                                             

3 Yr/Av = 

277                                                    

1.1% 

reduction

Reliant on Police data / 

requires data checking

48 Children killed or seriously injured in road traffic 

accidents
Yes Council 40 19

2008 = 43                                             

3 Yr/Av = 38                                                    

5% reduction

2008 = 31                                             

3 Yr/Av = 22                                                    

15.8% 

increase

Reliant on Police data / 

requires data checking

49a

Number of primary fires per 100,000

FIRE 1455 695
Primary fires 

1218                                

Rate of 

primary fires 

per 100,000: 

176.04;

NEEDS TO BE RATE PER 

100,000 POP

49b

Number of primary fires related fatalities per 100,000

FIRE 1455 695 5 deaths

Related 

fatalaties per 

100,000: 

0.83;

NEEDS TO BE RATE PER 

100,000 POP

49c

Number of primary fires related casualties per 100,000

FIRE 1455 695 26 injuries

Related non-

fatal 

casualties: 

5.82

NEEDS TO BE RATE PER 

100,000 POP

50 Emotional health of children Yes Council 64% TellUs Survey

Page 11



NI Title Council 

Priority

Emerging 

Thoughts 

Priority

Reporting 

Organisations

Cheshire 

Baseline 

(2007/08 unless 

specified)

Cheshire 

East 

Baseline 

2007/08

Cheshire 

Outturn 

(2008/09)

Cheshire 

East Outturn 

2008/09

Comments/Issues

51 Effectiveness of child and adolescent mental health 

(CAMHS) services
PCT 14

Available end of June 2009

52 Take up of school lunches

Council

(a) Primary - 

47.8% (b) 

Secondary - 

31.3%

Available end of June 2009

53a Prevalence of breastfeeding 6-8 weeks from birth PCT 97.8% Available end of June 2009

53b % of infants whose breastfeeding status is recorded PCT 97.8% Available end of June 2009

54 Services for disabled children 
Council

Introduction 09/10 - survey of 

parents of disabled children

55 Obesity in primary school age children in Reception 
Yes PCT 8.20%

Available end of October 2009

56 Obesity in primary school age children in Year 6

Yes PCT 16.50% 17.9% (2007)

Available end of October 2009.  

East/West split not avaialble 

due to non contiguous 

boundaries between PCT's and 

new local authorities

57 Children and young people's participation in sporting 

opportunities Council

Introduction 09/10 - Annual 

school sport survey and new 

DCSF survey

58 Emotional and behavioural health of looked after 

children
Yes Yes Council 15.4 15.2

59 Percentage of initial assessments for children’s social 

care carried out within 7 working days of referral Yes Council 64.9% 66.4% 71.3% 75.7%

60 Percentage of core assessments for children’s social 

care that were carried out within 35 working days of 

their commencement.

Yes Council 68.0% 63.9% 80.0% 80.1%

61 Timeliness of placements of looked after children for 

adoption following an agency decision that the child 

should be placed for adoption

Council 88.2% 100.0% 100.0% 100.0%

62 Stability of placements of looked after children: number 

of placements
Yes Council 10.2% 9.1% 9.9% 9.8%

63 Stability of placements of looked after children: length 

of placement
Yes Council 67.50% 73.6% 65.0% 68.0%

64 Child Protection Plans lasting 2 years or more Council 1.8% 2.9% 2.08% 0.0%

65 Percentage of children becoming the subject of Child 

Protection Plan for a second or subsequent time Yes Council 9.2% 10.4% 9.0% 9.5%

66 Looked after children cases which were reviewed 

within required timescales
Council 98.4% 95.2% 93.5% 95.6%

67 Percentage of child protection cases which were 

reviewed within required timescales
Yes Council 100.0% 100.0% 99.4% 99.0%

68 Percentage of referrals to children’s social care going 

on to initial assessment 
Yes Yes Council 46.6% 39.4% 79.0% 75.3%

69 Children who have experienced bullying Yes Council 46.0% TellUs Survey

70 Hospital admissions caused by unintentional and 

deliberate injuries to children and young people
PCT

Available end of July 2009

71 Children Missing from Home or Care
Council

Introduction 2009/10 - LA self 

assessment

72 Achievement of at least 78 points across the Early 

Years Foundation Stage with at least 6 in each of the 

scales in Personal, Social and Emotional Development 

and Communication, Language and Literacy

Yes Council 60.10% 60.10% 61.70%

08/09 Baseline figures not due 

until September 09. 2009/10 

targets only available for CCC

73 Achievement at level 4 or above in both English and 

Maths at Key Stage 2
Yes Council 76.0% 79.0% 77.0% 79.0%

75 Achievement of 5 or more A*- C grades at GCSE or 

equivalent including English and Maths 
Yes Council 51.0% 54.0% 53.0% 57.0%

76 Reduction in number of schools where fewer than 55% 

of pupils achieve level 4 or above in both English and 

Maths at KS2 

Council 17 6

78 Reduction in number of schools where fewer than 30% 

of pupils achieve 5 or more A*- C grades at GCSE and 

equivalent including GCSEs in English and Maths
Council 5 1

79 Achievement  of a Level 2 qualification by the age of 

19
Council 76.0% 76.0%

Available February 2010

80 Achievement of a Level 3 qualification by the age of 19
Council 51.7% 52.0%

Available February 2010

81 Inequality gap in the achievement of a Level 3 

qualification by the age of 19
Council 35.80% 34.00%

Available February 2010

82 Inequality gap in the achievement of a Level 2 

qualification by the age of 19
Council 49.7% 29.0%

Available February 2010

84 Achievement of 2 or more A*- C grades in Science 

GCSEs or equivalent
Council 55.3% 57.9% 56.1% 58.8%

85a Post 16 participation in Physics

Council 1509

Data source = National Pupil 

Database.  Data available 

January 2010

85b Post 16 participation in Chemistry

Council 1509

Data source = National Pupil 

Database.  Data available 

January 2010

85c Post 16 participation in Maths

Council 1509

Data source = National Pupil 

Database.  Data available 

January 2010

86 Secondary schools judged as having good or 

outstanding standards of behaviour Council 73.7% 68.4%

Data source = OFSTED.  2006 

to 2008 data will be available 

end of June 2009

87 Secondary school persistent absence rate Yes Council 5.9% 5.7%

88 Percentage of schools providing access to extended 

services Council 46% 48% 63% 62%

08/09 Baseline based upon 

September 08 Figures and 

Targets

89a Reduction of number of schools judged as requiring 

special measures and improvement in time taken to 

come out of the category 

Council 2 0 2 1

Page 12



NI Title Council 

Priority

Emerging 

Thoughts 

Priority

Reporting 

Organisations

Cheshire 

Baseline 

(2007/08 unless 

specified)

Cheshire 

East 

Baseline 

2007/08

Cheshire 

Outturn 

(2008/09)

Cheshire 

East Outturn 

2008/09

Comments/Issues

89b Reduction of number of schools judged as requiring 

special measures and improvement in time taken to 

come out of the category 

Council 17 17 15 0

90 Take up of 14-19 learning diplomas

Council 154 127

Data source - Diploma 

Aggregation Service.  Data 

available October 2009

91 Participation of 17 year-olds in education or training
Yes Council 79.30%

2007/08 data available end of 

June 2009

92 Narrowing the gap between the lowest achieving 20% 

in the Early Years Foundation Stage Profile and the 

rest

Yes Council 33.5% 33.5% 31.9%

Available end of September 

2009

93 Progression by 2 levels in English between Key Stage 

1 and Key Stage 2
Yes Council 83.80% 84.30% 81.00% 82.00%

94 Progression by 2 levels in Maths between Key Stage 1 

and Key Stage 2
Yes Council 79% 81.40% 79% 81.00%

99 Looked after children reaching level 4 in English at Key 

Stage 2

Yes Council 52.0% 60.0%

73.7% 

(2007/08 

Academic 

Year)

The outturn relates to the 

previous academic year  i.e  07-

08 relates  to exams taken in 

May 08. The 07-08  figure is 

draft until end of November 

and submission of the OC2 on 

November 30th after this date 

the data can be confirmed.

100 Looked after children reaching level 4 in mathematics 

at Key Stage 2

Yes Council 50.0% 52.5%

57.9% 

(2007/08 

Academic 

Year)

The outturn relates to the 

previous academic year  i.e      

07-08 relates  to exams taken 

in May 08. The 07-08  figure is 

draft until end of November 

and submission of the OC2 on 

November 30th after this date 

the data can be confirmed

101 Looked after children achieving 5 A*-C GCSEs (or 

equivalent) at Key Stage 4 (including English and 

mathematics)

Yes Council 7.5% 8.0%

8.3% 

(2007/08 

Academic 

Year)

This PI  is different from the 

previous PI which  did not 

specifically require the 

inclusion of  English and Maths  

The outturn relates to the 

previous academic year  i.e      

07-08 relates  to exams taken 

in May 08. The 07-08  figure is 

draft until end of November 

and submission of the OC2 on 

November 30th after this date 

the data can be confirmed.  It is 

not known when data will be 

available

102a Achievement gap between pupils eligible for free 

school meals and their peers achieving the expected 

level at Key Stage 2 

Council 30.3% 30.3%

102b Achievement gap between pupils eligible for free 

school meals and their peers achieving the expected 

level at Key Stage 4

Council 38.1% 38.2% 39.0% 39.0%

103a Special Educational Needs – statements issued within 

26 weeks  - excluding exceptions
Council 87.0% 87.0% 90.0% 92.0%

103b Special Educational Needs – statements issued within 

26 weeks  - including exceptions
Council 84.0% 84.0% 84.0% 89.0%

104 The Special Educational Needs (SEN)/non-SEN gap – 

achieving Key Stage 2 English and Maths threshold

Council 57.0%

We had a figure 0f 57% for 

Cheshire 2008-09 but this was 

based in children with Special 

Needs at the end of KS2 and 

we have since realised that the 

definition specifies children 

with Special Needs at the 

beginning of KS2. We havn't 

got this figure yet (big job to 

work out).

105 The Special Educational Needs (SEN)/non-SEN gap – 

achieving 5 A*- C GCSE including English and Maths Council 47.4% 49.3%

2007/08 data will be available 

end of December 2009

106 Young people from low income backgrounds 

progressing to higher education

3RD PARTIES

Data source - National Pupil 

Database and Higher 

Education Statistics Agency.  

2006/07 data will be available 

end of November 2009

107 Key Stage 2 attainment for Black and minority ethnic 

groups

Council N/A N/A

Cheshire East does not have 

any cohorts of ethnic minorities 

larger than 30 pupils at KS2,  

therefore this indicator can not 

be calculated to the definition

108 Key Stage 4 attainment for Black and minority ethnic 

groups  
Council 52.7% N/A

109 Delivery of Sure Start Children’s Centres Council 74% 60% 73% 60%

110 Young people's participation in positive activities 

Yes Yes CONNEXIONS 71%

*New survey, no baseline, no 

proxy at present.  Surevy due 

autumn 2008

111 First time entrants to the Youth Justice System aged 

10 – 17 
Yes Yes Council 1078 (07-08) 518 (07-08)

Data will be available end of 

September 2009

112 Under 18 conception rate
Yes Yes Council 4.1% -8.1%

2008 data will be available 

February 2010

113a % of 15-24 year olds accepting a test for Chlamydia
PCT

www.chlamydiascreening.nhs.u

k/

113b Chlamydia in under 25 year olds.Positive diagnosis
PCT

www.chlamydiascreening.nhs.u

k/

Page 13



NI Title Council 

Priority

Emerging 

Thoughts 

Priority

Reporting 

Organisations

Cheshire 

Baseline 

(2007/08 unless 

specified)

Cheshire 

East 

Baseline 

2007/08

Cheshire 

Outturn 

(2008/09)

Cheshire 

East Outturn 

2008/09

Comments/Issues

114 Rate of permanent exclusions from school Council 0.10% 0.10% 0.08% 0.07%

115 Substance misuse by young people Yes Council 11.3%

116 Proportion of children in poverty

3RD PARTIES

DWP data services.  It is not 

known when data will be 

available

117 16 to 18 year olds who are not in education, 

employment or training (NEET)
Yes Yes CONNEXIONS 4.7% (2007) 5.2% 5.6% 5.9%

118 Take up of formal childcare by low-income working 

families 
HMRC

2007/08 data available end of 

June 2009

119 Self-reported measure of people’s overall health and 

wellbeing
Yes Council 79.2%

120 All-age all cause mortality rate

Yes Yes PCT

Male 705 

Female 507 

(2005)

NHS Western Cheshire has 

calculated 2008 rates using 

2008 data from our local files 

with 2007 population 

estimates; therefore, this is our 

provisional position.

121 Mortality rate from all circulatory diseases at ages 

under 75

Yes Yes PCT 80.1 (2005)

NHS Western Cheshire has 

calculated 2008 rates using 

2008 data from our local files 

with 2007 population 

estimates; therefore, this is our 

provisional position.

122 Mortality rate from all cancers at ages under 75

Yes Yes PCT 117.20

Cong - 

104.5, Crewe 

- 117.7, 

Macc - 111.6 

Data will be available in 

December 2009.

123 Stopping smoking

PCT 795

1. Rates have been incorrectly 

added together as they should 

be rate per 100,000.                                                                                        

2. Based on PCT boundaries.                                          

3. Change of definition.                      

Q4 data available end of  June 

2009

124 People with a long-term condition supported to be 

independent and in control of their condition
Yes PCT 81%

2008/09 data will be available 

in October 2009.

125 Achieving independence for older people through 

rehabilitation / intermediate care
Yes Yes Council 78.0% 73.0% 67.2% 74.4%

126 Early Access for Women to Maternity Services
PCT

Q3 - Q4 data available June 

2009.

127 Self reported experience of social care users Council Deferred 2010/2011

128 User reported measure of respect and dignity in their 

treatment
Council

Deferred 2010/2011

129 End of life care – access to appropriate care enabling 

people to be able to choose to die at home PCT
17.7 (FTI 17.7) 

(06-07)

2008 data available November 

2009.

130 Social Care clients receiving Self Directed Support
Yes Yes Council 967 (ACS 108) 284.7 275.1

Change of definition from 

09/10. 

131 Delayed transfers of care

PCT 7.95 (FTI)

Unsure who has set target, not 

Dept.  Data available 

September 2009.

132 Timeliness of social care assessment (all adults)

Council 79.3% 68.2% 73.3%

Scores based on D55 results 

could be split E/W by 49% and 

51%

133 Timeliness of social care packages following 

assessment Council 93.0% 91.3% 90.2%

Scores based on D55 results 

could be split E/W by 49% and 

51%

134 The number of emergency bed days per head of 

weighted population
Yes PCT 0.41 (FTI 05-06) 3333

135 Carers receiving needs assessment or review and a 

specific carer’s service, or advice and information
Yes Yes Council 45% (07-08) 45.0% 48.4% 46.4%

136 People supported to live independently through social 

services (all adults)

Yes Yes Council

2227.4 (FTI 05-

06) 6281 (ACS 

136)

3176.24 3130.38

Local indicator for OP numbers 

only included here. NI is new 

measure based on old helped 

to live at home PIs. Cheshire 

baseline for 05/06 excludes 

Grant Funded Services

137 Healthy life expectancy at age 65

Yes Yes PCT 15.1%

Change of definiition. R&I 

trying to get guidance off 

GONW on calculation for 

combining male/female figures.  

2002 data released in June 

2009.

138 Satisfaction of people over 65 with both home and 

neighbourhood 
Council 79.0% 87.8%

139 The extent to which older people receive the support 

they need to live independently at home
Yes Council 31.0%

140 Fair treatment by local services

Council 72.5%

Place Survey indicator. 

Unweighted results likely to be 

available early January 2009. 

141 Percentage of vulnerable people achieving 

independent living
Yes Yes Council 66.90% 66.90% 63.26% 55.07%

142 Percentage of vulnerable people who are supported to 

maintain independent living
Yes Yes Council 98.70% 98.70% 97.15% 97.68%

143 Offenders under probation supervision living in settled 

and suitable accommodation at the end of their order 

or licence

PROBATION 78.0% 84.0% 79.6% 82.8%

144 Offenders under probation supervision in employment 

at the end of their order or licence
PROBATION 51.0% 55.0% 45.5% 42.6%

Page 14



NI Title Council 

Priority

Emerging 

Thoughts 

Priority

Reporting 

Organisations

Cheshire 

Baseline 

(2007/08 unless 

specified)

Cheshire 

East 

Baseline 

2007/08

Cheshire 

Outturn 

(2008/09)

Cheshire 

East Outturn 

2008/09

Comments/Issues

145 Adults with learning disabilities in settled 

accommodation 
Council 48.6% 37.3%

146 Adults with learning disabilities in employment 

Yes Council 6.9% 5.5% 6.4%

Scores calculated for LAA 

purposes - due to indicator 

being new, data is not available 

in PARIS. Year end should 

rectify this, we can then base 

future targets on more reliable 

numbers.

147 Care leavers in suitable accommodation Council 92.5% 90.7% 97.6% 95.2%

148 Care leavers in education, employment or training Council 52.5% 40.5% 56.1% 52.4%

149 Adults in contact with secondary mental health services 

in settled accommodation
PCT

2008/09 data available in July 

2009.

150 Adults in contact with secondary mental health services 

in employment
PCT

2008/09 data available in July 

2009.

151 Overall Employment rate (working-age)
Yes

JOBCENTRE 

PLUS
77.9% 80.4% 78.2% 76.6%

152 Working age people on out of work benefits JOBCENTRE 

PLUS
8.9% 7.8%

6311 (128% 

increase)

153 Working age people claiming out of work benefits in 

the worst performing neighbourhoods
Yes Yes

JOBCENTRE 

PLUS
29.1% 26.3%

6785 (128% 

increase)

154 Net additional homes provided Yes Yes Council 2121 (06-07) 1273

155 Number of affordable homes delivered (gross) Yes Yes Council 236 (06-07) 130 325

156 Number of households living in temporary 

accommodation
Yes Yes Council 364 (Dec 2004) 231 20

Calender Year

157a Processing of planning applications ‘major’
Council CCC - 71.43% 70.59%

CCC -

61.36%
CCC 52.00%

157b Processing of planning applications ‘minor’
Council CCC - 71.43% 70.59%

CCC -

61.36%
CCC 52.00%

157c Processing of planning applications ‘other’
Council CCC - 71.43% 70.59%

CCC -

61.36%
CCC 52.00%

157d Processing of 'County Matter' planning applications
Council CCC - 71.43% 70.59%

CCC -

61.36%
CCC 52.00%

158 % non-decent council homes

Council

Ellesmere Port 

and Neston 

return only

Ellesmere 

Port and 

Neston 

return only

N/A

2008/09 result is an estimate of 

the % non-decency at 1 April 

2009

159 Supply of ready to develop housing sites
Council

Congleton 

136%

160 Local authority tenants’ satisfaction with landlord 

services
Council

Ellesmere Port 

and Neston 

return only

Ellesmere 

Port and 

Neston 

return only

161 Number of Level 1 qualifications in literacy (including 

ESOL) achieved
LSC

2007/08 data available end of 

June 2009

162 Number of Entry Level qualifications in numeracy 

achieved
LSC

2007/08 data available end of 

June 2009

163 Proportion of population aged 19-64 for males and 19-

59 for females qualified to at least Level 2 or higher Yes Yes LSC 72.7% (2006) 73.9%

2008 data available end of 

November 2009

164 Proportion of population aged 19-64 for males and 19-

59 for females qualified to at least Level 3 or higher Yes Yes LSC 53.8% (2006) 53.2%

2008 data available end of 

October 2009

165 Proportion of population aged 19-64 for males and 19-

59 for females qualified to at least Level 4 or higher Council 36.2% (FTI 2006) 34.6% 36.1% 36.6%

166 Median earnings of employees in the area Council £460.7

167 Congestion – average journey time per mile during the 

morning peak

Yes Council

LTP Indicator - LTP 2 .  DfT 

collect journey time data.  

Awaiting release of data by DfT 

in order to calculate Baselines / 

Targets.  Links to Local LTP 

indicators LT2, LT3.  2007/08 

data available end of June 

2009

168 Principal roads where maintenance should be 

considered
Yes Yes Council 4% 5% 4% 5%

BVPI 223 / LTP  

169 Non-principal classified roads where maintenance 

should be considered
Yes Yes Council 6% 9% 6% 8%

BVPI 224a / LTP         

170 Previously developed land that has been vacant or 

derelict for more than 5 years
Council 1.21 (FTI 2006)

171 New business registration  rate
Yes Council 134.20% N/A

134.2% 

(71.1)

Should be a number

172 Percentage of small businesses in an area showing 

employment growth
Yes Council 12.7%

Cong - 12%, 

Crewe - 13%, 

Macc - 

11.9%

2008 data available end of 

December 2009

173 Flows on to incapacity benefits from employment

Council

Cong - 0.4, 

Crewe - 0.7, 

Macc - 0.3

Q3 - Cong - 

0.2, Crewe - 

0.7, Macc - 

0.4

Q4 2008 data available end of 

June 2009

174 Skills gaps in the current workforce reported by 

employers
Council 13.0% 12.1% 13.0% 12.1%

Page 15



NI Title Council 

Priority

Emerging 

Thoughts 

Priority

Reporting 

Organisations

Cheshire 

Baseline 

(2007/08 unless 

specified)

Cheshire 

East 

Baseline 

2007/08

Cheshire 

Outturn 

(2008/09)

Cheshire 

East Outturn 

2008/09

Comments/Issues

175 Access to services and facilities by public transport, 

walking and cycling

Yes Council

2008/09 data available end of 

July 2009.  LTP Indicator - LTP 

1 .  NI 175 follows the definition 

used for indicator LTP 1 in the 

local authority’s Accessibility 

Strategy, which is part of the 

second Local Transport Plan.  

Cheshire’s Accessibility 

Strategy is currently under 

review, including the ‘LTP 1 

Accessibility indicator’.  The 

new indicator will follow DfT / 

National Indicator definition 

guidance.  

176 Working age people with access to employment by 

public transport (and other specified modes)
Yes Council 84.2% (FTI 2005)

DfT calculate and produce 

return for this indicator 

annually.  2008 data will be 

available end of June 2009       

177 Local bus and light rail passenger journeys originating 

in the authority area
Council 2320000 (06/07) 25920000 9130000

Data reliant on co-operation 

from bus companies or DfT 

approved on-board passenger 

surveys 

178a Bus services running on time % of non frequent 

services on time Council 91% 85% 84%

Data reliant on co-operation 

from bus companies with local 

authority spot checks

178b Bus services running on time - excess waiting time of 

frequent services Council 91% 85% 84%

Data reliant on co-operation 

from bus companies with local 

authority spot checks

179 Value for money – total net value of ongoing cash-

releasing value for money gains that have impacted 

since the start of the 2008-09 financial year Yes Council £26,685,000

As West 

Cheshire 

performance

Performance as reported 

through data interchange hub 

October 2008. Data provided is 

estimated outturn for 2008/09

180 The number of changes of circumstances which affect 

customers’ HB/CTB entitlement within the year.

Council N/A N/A 912.0

Data published by DWP on its 

web site on a monthly basis 

Good performance is a figure 

above the target set

181 Time taken to process Housing Benefit/Council Tax 

Benefit new claims and change events
Council N/A N/A

Good performance is a figure 

lower than the target set

182 Satisfaction of business with local authority regulatory 

services
Yes Council/Council Not defined 76% 76%

183 Impact of local authority trading standards services on 

the fair trading environment

Yes Council Not defined 1.39% 1.25%

No half-year return as data 

required from external sources 

to calculate indicator not 

available.  Uncertain whether 

will be able to disaggregate 

data east and west due to 

reliance on third parties to 

supply data eg. Consumer 

Direct.  Queries raised with 

them to ascertain whether they 

are examining Cheshire data 

disaggregation prior to 1 April 

2009

184 Food establishments in the area which are broadly 

compliant with food hygiene law
Council

District Council 

indicator only

District 

Council 

indicator only

84%

Ellesmere Port and Neston do 

not have the systems in place 

to report against this indicator 

in-year

185 CO2 reduction from local authority operations
Yes Council Unavailable Unavailable

2008/09 data available end of 

August 2009

186 Per capita reduction in CO2 emissions in the LA area

Yes Yes Council
9.81 tonnes per 

capita (2005)
8.8 Unavailable Unavailable

Meeting with Paul Stowers 

(GONW) 28 Nov 08.  Data 

available November/December 

2009

187a % of people receiving income based benefits living in 

homes with a low energy efficiency rating

Council

SAP less 

than 35 = 

16%

Districts:  Chester / EP & VR 

doing survey this year to 

establish baseline

* updated by Email Gill 

Rogerson - 02/04/09

187b % of people receiving income based benefits living in 

homes with a high energy efficiency rating

Council

SAP of  65 or 

greater = 

17%

Districts:  Chester / EP & VR 

doing survey this year to 

establish baseline

* updated by Email Gill 

Rogerson - 02/04/09

188 Planning to Adapt  to Climate Change Yes Council Level 0 Level 0 Level 0 Level 0

189 Flood and coastal erosion risk management

3RD PARTIES 100%

Environment Agency is the 

reporting organisation to Hub - 

Needs a CCC or District Lead 

Officer

190 Achievement in meeting standards for the control 

system for animal health
Council

Implementation deferred until 

2009/10. Included in DCLG NI 

consultation paper published 

September 2008

191 Residual household waste per household

Yes Yes Council 787Kg 721Kg

(NB: 

estimated) 

586.89kg/ 

household 

(estimated)

Awaiting tonnage confirmation - 

available by end of July 2009

Page 16



NI Title Council 

Priority

Emerging 

Thoughts 

Priority

Reporting 

Organisations

Cheshire 

Baseline 

(2007/08 unless 

specified)

Cheshire 

East 

Baseline 

2007/08

Cheshire 

Outturn 

(2008/09)

Cheshire 

East Outturn 

2008/09

Comments/Issues

192 Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, 

recycling and composting
Yes Yes Council 40.00% 42.56%

(NB: 

estimated) 

49.7% 

(estimated)

Data available by end of July 

2009

193 Percentage of municipal waste landfilled

Yes Council
64% (06-07) 59% 

(07-08)
59.00%

(NB: 

estimated) 

49.3% 

(estimated)

Data available by end of July 

2009

194 Air quality - % reduction in NOx and primary PM10 

emissions through local authority’s estate and 

operations

Council

2008/09 data available end of 

July 2009

195a Improved street and environmental cleanliness (levels 

of litter) Yes Council 17.00%

4%

(estimated)

195b Improved street and environmental cleanliness (levels 

of detritus) Yes Council 6.00%

11%

(estimated)

195c Improved street and environmental cleanliness (levels 

of graffiti) Yes Council 4.00%

2%

(estimated)

195d Improved street and environmental cleanliness (levels 

of fly posting) Yes Council

0%

(estimated)

196 Improved street and environmental cleanliness – fly 

tipping
Council 2 (estimated)

197 Improved Local Biodiversity – proportion of Local Sites 

where positive conservation management has been or 

is being implemented

Yes Council 30% 29%

Lack of a Local Sites 

Partnership in place to collect 

the information

198a Travel to school - Cars - aged 5-10
Council

32.8% (2007)                                                                   

34.5% (2008)
34.0% 33.9% 33.3%

198b Travel to school Cars aged 11-16
Council

32.8% (2007)                                                                   

34.5% (2008)
34.0% 33.9% 33.3%

199 Children and young people's satisfaction with parks 

and play areas
Council 40.7%

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 3 

1 

The national Place Survey – results for Cheshire East 
 
Introduction 
 
This paper reports on results for the Place survey in Cheshire East prior councils and 
compares them to national and regional results. 
 
Recommendations 
 
This paper is for noting.  However it raises a number of issues about perceptions of 
predecessor councils that Cabinet may wish to consider in terms of future responses 
and engagement with local people. 
 
The Place Survey 
 
The Place Survey was developed by the Department of Communities and Local 
Government and carried out by local councils in September to December 2008.  The 
survey questionnaire, sampling and survey methods and analytical approaches were 
all laid down by DCLG.  Cheshire County Council Research and Intelligence unit 
carried out the postal survey in both Cheshire East and Cheshire West areas.  Results 
from the survey were completed by February.  However reporting has awaited DCLG 
statistical review and the production of comparative data which have recently been 
released. 
 
The survey is intended to provide both local information and comparative benchmark 
information.  A number of questions form part of the new National Indicator Set.  The 
government’s aim has been to measure how well its priorities are being delivered by 
local government and partnerships.  The Place Survey provides feedback about local 
services and information about people’s perceptions of their local area.  It follows 
national Best Value Surveys, most recently 2006/07.  
 
A list of National Indicators collected through the Place Survey is shown below. 
 

NI number Description 
NI 1 % of people who believe that people from different backgrounds  get on well in 

their area 

NI 2 % of people who feel that they belong to their neighbourhood 

NI 3 Civic participation in local area 

NI 4 % of people who feel they can influence decisions in their locality 

NI 5 Overall/general satisfaction with local area 

NI 6 Participation in regular volunteering 

NI 17 Perceptions of anti-social behaviour 

NI 21 Dealing with local concerns about anti-social behaviour 

NI 22 Perceptions of parents taking responsibility for the behaviour of their children 
in the area 

NI 23 Perceptions that people in the area treat one another with respect and 
consideration 

Page 19



Appendix 3 

2 

NI 27 Understanding of local concerns about anti-social behaviour and crime issues 
by the local council and police 

NI 37 Awareness of civil protection arrangements in the local area 

NI 41 Perceptions of rowdy or drunk behaviour as a problem 

NI 42 Perceptions of drug use or drug dealing as a problem 

NI 119 Self-reported measures of people’s overall health and wellbeing 

NI 138 Satisfaction of people 65 and over with both home and neighbourhood 

NI 139 The extent to which older people receive the support they need to live 
independently 

NI 140 Fair treatment by local services 

 
Details for all these NIs are included on the national indicator table. 
 
Findings and comparisons 
 
A summary and comparison of main survey findings, including both national indicator and 
other results are given below.   
 
The local area 
 

 % either very or fairly satisfied with area as a place to live – NI 5 

Cheshire East North West England 

84.6 77 80 

 

% very or fairly strongly believe they belong to immediate neighbourhood – NI 2 

Cheshire East North West England 

61.5 60 59 

 
Public services 
 
Comparisons about the services provided by the council, which referred to the County Council 
and District Councils’ services, show that residents’ views tend to be less favourable than in 
the region or all England.  Further detailed analysis of response will aim to build a clearer 
understanding of the factors underpinning local views. 
 

% very and fairly satisfied with, taking everything into account, the way the council Cheshire 
County Council and your District Council run things  

Cheshire East North West England 

40.1 43 45 

 
 

% strongly or tend to agree that the local council provides value for money? 

Cheshire East North West England 

23.5 32 33 

 
Satisfaction with services 
 

% very or fairly satisfied with following services 

Service Cheshire East England 

Keeping public land clear of litter and refuse 51.4 57 

Page 20



Appendix 3 

3 

Refuse collection 69.2 78 

Doorstep re-cycling 63.7 70 

Local tips/household waste recycling centres 70.6 71 

Local transport information 38.7 48 

Local bus services 41.9 55 

Sports/ leisure facilities 45.8 46 

Libraries 76.3 69 

Museums/ galleries 30.1 41 

Theatres/ concert halls 33.7 43 

Parks and open spaces 62.3 69 

 
Other aspects of services 
 
The survey asked whether older people get the support they need to live at home and whether 
people feel they are treated with respect and consideration.  Cheshire east compared 
favourably in relation to these aspects of service delivery. 
 

% think older people receive the support they need to live independently – NI 139 

Cheshire East North West England 

31 32 30 

 

% agree or tend to agree that they were treated with respect and consideration by local 
services – NI 140 

Cheshire East North West England 

72.8 70 72 

 
Local decision making 
 
Cheshire East residents are less likely to believe they can influence decisions, but also less 
likely to want to be involved. 
 

% definitely or tend to agree that they can influence decisions in their local area – NI  4 

Cheshire East North West England 

24.2 27 29 

 

% generally speaking would like to be involved 

Cheshire East North West England 

25.3 27 27 

 
Helping out 
 
The survey asked about unpaid help that people gave, outside of anything that was the 
requirement of a job.  Cheshire East residents have slightly higher involvement in giving help 
than residents in the region or England. 
 

% who had given unpaid help to any groups, clubs or organisations at least once per month, in 
the previous 12 months 

Cheshire East North West England 

23.9 22 23 

 

Page 21



Appendix 3 

4 

Getting involved 
 

% In the last 12 months of people who have belonged to groups that make decisions\ affecting 
the local area 

Cheshire East North West England 

13 13 14 

 
Respect and consideration 
 
The Place Survey also aimed to explore some issues of community cohesion.  Cheshire East 
residents’ responses indicate that people have stronger views about living together as 
communities than in the region or England.  However some 46% of residents indicated that 
they do not think parents take enough responsibility for their children and only one in five think 
that people not treating each other with respect and consideration is\ not a problem. 
 
 
 

% definitely or tend to agree that people from different backgrounds get on well together in the 
local area – NI 1 

Cheshire East North West England 

78.9 74 76 

 

% who think people not treating each other with respect and consideration is a big or fairly big 
problem – NI 23 

Cheshire East North West England 

25.6 34 31 

 
 

% definitely or tend to agree that parents in the local area take responsibility for the behaviour 
of their children – NI 22 

Cheshire East North West England 

34.6 27 30 

 
 
Community Safety 
 
The Place survey collected some detailed information about peoples’ perceptions of crime and 
anti-social behaviour in their local area and the extent to which they felt the police and other 
local services were dealing with these problems.  Overall residents have fewer concerns about 
community safety issues than in the region or England generally. 
 

Area % agree that anti-
social behaviour was 
a very or fairly big 
problem 

% think drunk or 
rowdy behaviour a 
big fairly big problem 

% seeing drug use or 
drug-dealing as a 
very or fairly big 
problem 

Cheshire East 16.5 29.5 26.0 

North West 23 32 35 

England 20 29 31 

 
 

Page 22



Appendix 3 

5 

 
Self reported health 
 
Finally the survey asked people to assess whether their general health was good, fair or bad.  
Overall Cheshire east residents are more likely than average to assess their health as good or 
very good. 
 

% Describing health in general as\ very good or good - NI 119 

Cheshire East North West England 

78 73 76 

 
 
Further analysis 
 
The Place Survey was completed by 6378 residents from 15,000 questionnaires sent out 
(response rate 42.6%).  Analysis has been rigorously overseen across the country and the 
findings represent some good evidence about the local communities and their perceptions.  
Further analysis is ongoing to provide information about: 

• issues relevant for services 

• different geographical communities 

• the needs of different groups of people in the local population 

• relationships between perceptions and experiences. 
 
There is strong national evidence, supported over a number of years, about the relationship 
between local authorities’ promotion of their services, clear identification of what they do and 
positive public perceptions.  Findings from this\survey indicate that the council has a clear 
opportunity to gain form promoting a public perception of Cheshire East.   

Page 23



Page 24

This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Scrutiny September 09 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO:  CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Date of Meeting: 

 
1 September 2009 

Report of: Borough Solicitor 
Subject/Title: Work Programme update 
___________________________________                                                                       
 
 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 To consider items proposed for inclusion in the Committee’s Work Programme 

and determine which items should be included in the Work Programme for the 
current municipal year. 

 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the Committee agree its Work Programme, determine a priority order, 

agree timescales and methodology. 
 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3.1 It is good practice to agree a Work Programme to enable effective management  
           of the Committee’s business. 
 
4.0 Wards Affected 
 
4.1 All 
 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
5.1 Not applicable. 
 
6.0 Policy Implications including - Climate change 
                                                              - Health 
6.1 Not known at this stage. 
 
7.0 Financial Implications for Transition Costs (Authorised by the Borough 

Treasurer) 
 
7.1 None identified at the moment. 
 
 
8.0 Financial Implications 2009/10 and beyond (Authorised by the Borough 

Treasurer) 
 
8.1 Not known at this stage. 

Agenda Item 8Page 25



Corporate Scrutiny September 09 

 
9.0 Legal Implications (Authorised by the Borough Solicitor) 
 
9.1 None. 
 
10.0 Risk Management  
 
10.1 There are no identifiable risks. 
 
11.0 Background and Options 
 
11.1 At the previous meeting of the Committee on 13 July 2009, Members approved 

a revised  list of potential items for the Work Programme which at that time 
contained a number of issues raised by the Resources and Health and 
Wellbeing Portfolio Holders. Meetings have now been held with the 
Performance and capacity and Procurement, Assets and Shared Services 
Portfolio Holders. A number of additional items have now appeared in the work 
programme for consideration. 

 
 
11.2 The Committee is now in a position to thoroughly review  its work programme. 

Not only should members  assess all items against the following criteria, 
members should now start to identify the  method the committee intends to 
employ to progress any scrutiny involvement– for example, whether items 
should be dealt with by a Task/Finish panel or by the  Committee etc :-  

 

• Does the issue fall within a corporate priority 
  

• Is the issue of key interest to the public  
 

• Does the matter relate to a poor or declining performing 
service for which there is no obvious explanation  

 

• Is there a pattern of budgetary overspends  
 

• Is it a matter raised by external audit management 
letters and or audit reports. 

 

• Is there a high level of dissatisfaction with the service 
 

Also, if during the assessment process any of the following emerge, 
then the committee should consider rejecting the topic: 

 

• The topic is already being addressed elsewhere 
 

• The matter is subjudice 
 

• Scrutiny cannot add value or is unlikely to be able to conclude an 
investigation within the specified timescale 

 

Page 26



Corporate Scrutiny September 09 

11.3 In view of the long list of topics that now appears in the work 
programme,  the Committee should now determine which of those 
items are likely to be the subject of any O&S activity  during this 
inaugural year. It may well be worth acknowledging that realistically, 
the committee will only have resources to undertake two in depth 
reviews at any one time. It is likely that only those with a current high 
rating will be pursued, although, some medium rated matters will be 
the subject of presentations/reports to committee to provide 
background information. 

 
 
11.4 It is therefore now appropriate to refine the list further into an active 

list of matters rated sufficiently high to carry out review work; those 
which can be retained on a reserved or pending list for possible 
further action and those that can be deleted.  Indicative dates for O&S 
involvement can then be allocated to the active list  which will in turn 
allow Chief Officers to be made aware of items in their work area to 
ensure that there is plenty of time for consultation on timescales and 
content. 

 
 
12.0 Overview of Year One and Term One Issues 
 
12.1 It is good practice to have a Work Programme for the Committee to consider 

and prioritise on a regular basis. 
 
13.0 Access to Information 
 

          The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting the report 
writer: 

 
 
 
 
 Name:    Mark Nedderman 
 Designation: Senior Scrutiny Officer 

           Tel No:   01270 529640 
            Email:    mark.nedderman@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

  

Page 27



Page 28

This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Scrutiny Committee Work Programme 2009/2010 – July 
2009(version2) 

 
 

Issue Priority Comments 

Grants to Voluntary 
Organisations 
 
To review the role, 
performance and funding for 
voluntary organisations. 

High Task and Finish Group now 
appointed. Initial meetings are 
planned with relevant officers 
ahead of formal scoping of the 
review. Review expected to 

take 6 months  

Budget 
 
To give consideration to the 
proposed budget  

High 
 

 

Budget timetable is included in 
the Medium Term Financial 
Strategy contained elsewhere 

on this agenda. Key 
milestones for O&S 

involvement have been 
included in the MTFS 

Risk Management 
 
The County Council gave 
consideration to the Council’s 
Strategic approach to risk 
management and how the 
technique is used to support 
decision-making and review, at 
both officer and member level. 
Several of the 
recommendations made had 
not been implemented.  

Low The indicative rating of this 
item to be reassessed when 
advice is received from the 

Head of Policy and 
Performance. Advice is still 
awaited from Head of Policy 

and Performance. 

Review of IT provision and 
Support for members 

High Task and Finish Group held in 
abeyance until panel 

established under the Portfolio 
Holder has determined terms 

of reference 

Project Management Low An officer group has been 
established to pursue this 

matter and therefore no further 
action is required from the 
committee at this stage. 

New Item – July 2009   

Start times of Committee 
meetings 

Medium Report to be submitted to        
1 September meeting.  

Portfolio Holder Priorities 
2009 

  

Resources Portfolio   

Budget – the aim is to give 
more detail to the budget this 
year, so that on a section by 
section basis it is clear what 

High See reference to Budget 
above 

Page 29



the authority intends to provide 

Culture of the Organisation Low No action required at the 
moment 

ICT systems – Harmonisation 
and Improvement 

High To be the subject of a future 
briefing. 

Health and Wellbeing   

Sport – 2012 Olympics Medium Any draft  proposals to 
accommodate athletes etc. will 
be submitted to the committee 
for consultation in due course. 
 

 

Leisure Centre Management Medium The committee to be consulted 
on proposals for future 
governance and management 
during the summer of 2009. 

 

Events 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Low An officer group is rationalising 
the list of current events which 
range from Cheshire show, 
Tatton show, Party in the Park 
to small agricultural shows. 
The Committee is likely to be 
consulted. 
 
 

Performance and Capacity – 
New items July 2009 

  

Local Area Partnerships High A Discussion paper to be 
submitted to1 September 
meeting.  

Local Development Framework High A Discussion 
paper/presentation to be 
submitted to1 September 
meeting 

Sustainable Community 
Strategy 

High Discussion paper to be 
submitted on a date to be 
agreed 

Corporate Plan High Discussion paper to be 
submitted on a date to be 
agreed 

Procurement Assets and 
Shared Services – New items 
July 2009 

  

Assets Register Medium Presentation to be given to a 
future meeting 

Future of Council owned farms Medium Consultation paper to be 
submitted to a future meeting 

Procurement Medium Presentation to be given to a 

Page 30



future meeting 

Shared Services Medium Discussion paper to be 
submitted on a date to be 
agreed 

 
 

  

 

 

 

 

 

Page 31



Page 32

This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Scrutiny Reports 12.08.09 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO:  CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
COMMITTEE 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Date of Meeting: 

 
1 September 2009 

Report of: Borough Solicitor 
Subject/Title: Start Time of Meetings 
___________________________________                                                                       
 
 
1. Report Summary 
 

This report has been prepared at the request of the Leader of the Council and 
examines the possibility of reviewing the start times of meetings ahead of 
preparations for the production of the 2010/2011 calendar of meetings. 

 
2. Recommendations 
 

That the Committee makes recommendations regarding the start times of 
meetings in the 2010/2011 Calendar. 

 
3. Reasons for Recommendations 
  

It is good practice to agree a Calendar of meetings as early as possible to 
enable effective management of the Committee’s business. 
 

 
4. Wards Affected 
 

All 
 
5. Local Ward Members  
 

Not applicable. 
 
6. Policy Implications including - Climate change 
 Health 
 

Not known at this stage. 
 
7. Financial Implications for Transition Costs (Authorised by the Borough 

Treasurer) 
 

None identified at the moment. 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 10Page 33



Corporate Scrutiny Reports 12.08.09 

8. Financial Implications 2009/10 and beyond (Authorised by the Borough 
Treasurer) 

 
Not known at this stage. 

 
9. Legal Implications (Authorised by the Borough Solicitor) 
 

None. 
 
10. Risk Management  
 

A published Calendar of meetings enables effective planning and decision-
making procedures, thereby reducing risk. 

 
11. Background  
 
11.1 On 1 April 2009, the Council approved a Calendar of meetings for the 

2009/2010 municipal year. The calendar had been subject to consultation with 
the Leader of the Council, Committee Chairmen and Management Team. The 
meetings listed for Cabinet and Council had been approved previously by 
Council on 9 December 2008.  

 
11.2 Another significant input came via the Planning Development 

Management Task Group, which had been set up by the Places 
Advisory Panel in the shadow year, to develop a proposal for Planning 
Governance. 
 

11.3 The task group, which comprised experienced Planning Councillors and 
Development Managers, recommended that on the balance of convenience for 
commercial agents, members of the Committee and members of the public, 
Planning Committee meetings should be held in the daytime starting at 2.00pm 
  

11.4 Although there appears to be no significant demand to review the start time of 
meetings, it has come to light that a small number of members are facing 
difficulties balancing their Council duties with employment arrangements, 
particularly in respect of morning meetings, as they can easily run beyond 
lunchtime. 
 

11.5 The Leader of the Council has therefore asked Corporate Scrutiny Committee 
to look into this issue, with a view to making recommendations in respect the 
2010/11 calendar.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 34



Corporate Scrutiny Reports 12.08.09 

12. Options 
 

12.1 A quick glance at the table below, indicates that the majority of the Councils 
meetings currently begin at 2.00pm: 

 
 

MEETING    TIME 
    

 
Council   2.00pm winter, 6.00pm Summer 

(Annual Meeting – 11.15 am) 
 

Cabinet 2.00pm 
 

Planning Committees  2.00pm 
 

O&S Committees   10.00/10.30am 
 

Governance and Constitution  2.00pm 
 

Appeals Committee  2.00pm 
 

Licensing /Licensing  2.00pm 
 

Standards Committee  10.30 am 
 
 

 
12.2 Attendances at committee meetings have on the whole been good and there 

appears to be little to chose between morning and afternoon slots. The latest 
statistics on members’ attendances will be available at the meeting. 
 

12.3 The Scrutiny Chairs Group (SCG) discussed the matter on 3 August and 
concluded that in view of the number of visitors that would be required to give 
evidence at future meetings, it was important that O&S committees continued 
to meet during the day. However, the SCG did consider that start times should 
be left for individual committees to decide. 
 
 

12.4 There is good evidence that meetings are being well attended by members. 
There is anecdotal evidence that attendance by commercial agents at Planning 
meetings is also high and that there has been extensive use of the public 
participation arrangements at these meetings. Licensing committees/sub 
committees have also been well attended by Members. It is noted that there 
has been no call to change the times of these meetings. 
 

12.5 Council and Cabinet start times are now well established, although there may 
be merit in reviewing again the current summer/winter split in relation to Council 
meetings. 
 

Page 35



Corporate Scrutiny Reports 12.08.09 

12.6 Within the calendar of meetings, the Council has on the whole, managed to 
avoid holding more that one formal committee meeting per day. There are a 
few exceptions, for instance, where one of the Planning committees meets on 
the same day as an O&S committee. If there is general support to hold 
meetings exclusively in the afternoon, some slight adjustments to the schedule 
will have to be made, but these can easily be accommodated. 
 

12.7 O&S Committees largely meet in the morning and there may be good grounds 
to change the start times to 2.00pm for routine meetings, but to leave the start 
times of special meetings and Task and Finish Groups at the discretion of the 
relevant chairs, to take account of the level of business and requirements to 
accommodate visitors etc. 
 

12.8 The only other committee that routinely meets in the morning is the Standards 
Committee. It is suggested that the Independent Chairman is consulted in 
relation to arrangements for that committee prior to the calendar for 2010/2011 
being drafted. 

 
12.9 If the Committee decides to make any recommendations regarding the start of 

meetings, this will initiate consultations with the Leader of the Council and 
Group Leaders, prior to a report being submitted to Governance and 
Constitution Committee, to allow recommendations to be made to Council at 
the appropriate time, in order for Council to settle the calendar for the next 
municipal year. 
 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
Access to Information 

 

The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting the 
report writer: 

 
 
 
 
 Name:    Mark Nedderman 
 Designation: Scrutiny Officer 

           Tel No:   01270 529640 
            Email:    mark.nedderman@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 

 

Page 36



Corporate Scrutiny Reports 12.08.09 

 
 
 

  

Page 37



Page 38

This page is intentionally left blank



Corporate Scrutiny July 09 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO:  CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Date of Meeting: 

 
1 September 2009 

Report of: Borough Solicitor 
Subject/Title: Strengthening Local Democracy - Consultation 
___________________________________                                                                       
 
 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1     The Department of Communities and Local Government has embarked upon a 

consultation exercise in England only, which is focussed on promoting local 
democratic renewal by strengthening the capacity of local government. This 
particular consultation forms part of a much wider reform package and builds 
upon themes originally presented in the Building Britain’s Future programme 
which set out the Government’s plans to reform democracy, overcome the 
recession and build the next generation of Public Services.  

 
 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1    That the Committee forwards comments on the consultation document to the 

Resources Portfolio Holder in order for him to formally respond on behalf of the 
Council. 

 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3.1 In order for the Portfolio Holder to consider what response he may wish to 

make on behalf of the Council.  
 
4.0 Wards Affected 
 
4.1 All 
 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
5.1 Not applicable. 
 
6.0 Policy Implications  
 
6.1 Not known at this stage. 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 11Page 39



Corporate Scrutiny July 09 

7.0 Financial Implications 2009/10 and beyond  
 
7.1 None associated with the consultation response. 
 
8.0 Legal Implications  
 
8.1 None associated with the consultation response. 
 
9.0 Risk Management  
 
9.1 There are no identifiable risks. 
 
10.0 Background and options 
 
 

 10.1 The Government has issued the document attached for consultation. 
The consultation period is 10.5 weeks. The reason given in the 
consultation document is that the Government wants to maximise time 
available for the possibility of taking forward proposals, following the 
consultation 

 
10.2 The consultation explores whether local government has the powers it 

needs to meet today’s challenges. It sets out a range of proposals to 
promote democratic renewal and strengthen the power and 
responsibility of local government by: 
 

• Giving Councils more scope to scrutinise the spending and 
decisions of local service providers; 

 

• Exploring whether there are barriers to using powers and 
whether there are other powers which Councils should have; 

 

• Ensuring Councils have the powers and responsibilities they 
need to tackle climate change; 

 

• Exploring how the powers and responsibilities of sub regional 
structures should be matched by clear and accountable 
leadership; and 

 

• Exploring how to articulate, develop and support the relationship 
between central and local government so that respective 
functions are clear and transparent to citizens 

 
10.3 Of particular interest to the Corporate Scrutiny Committee are the 

proposals detailed in paragraph 58 onwards to increase the power 
and range of scrutiny by Local Authorities by means of: 

• broadening the number of bodies which can be subject to scrutiny 
committees: not limited to those responsible for health, crime and 
disorder or council functions, nor just those responsible for priority 

Page 40



Corporate Scrutiny July 09 

targets set out in the LAA 

• enhancing the powers which these committees have. Officers and 
board members could be required to appear in front of the committee 

• enabling scrutiny committees to make reports and 
recommendations to a wider range of bodies for their consideration, 
and these bodies could be required to have regard to the 
recommendations and formally respond to scrutiny committees 

 
10.4  To assist the Committee in focussing on the key issues in the 
consultation, the document poses the following consultation questions and it 
suggested that in addition to any general comments members may wish to 
make, an attempt should be made at answering each of the questions: 
 
Do you agree that we should extend scrutiny powers in relation to Local 
Area Agreement (LAA) partners to cover the range of their activities in 
an area, not just those limited to specific LAA targets? 

Do we need to make scrutiny powers more explicit in relation to local 
councils’ role in scrutinising expenditure on delivery of local public 
services in an area? If so, what is the best way of achieving this? 

Do you agree that we should bring all or some of the local public 
services as set out in this chapter fully under the local authority scrutiny 
regime? Are there other bodies who would benefit from scrutiny by 
Local Government? 

How far do you agree that we should extend scrutiny powers to enable 
committees to require attendance by officers or board members of 
external organisations to give evidence at scrutiny hearings, similar to 
the powers already in existence for health and police? 

What more could be done to ensure that councils adequately resource 
and support the local government scrutiny function to carry out its role 
to full effect? 

How can council leaders ensure that scrutiny is a core function of how 
their organisations do business and have a full and proper role in 
scrutinising the full range of local public services? 

What more could be done to better connect and promote the important 
role of local government scrutiny to local communities, for example, 
citizens as expert advisers to committees? 
 
 
11.0 Access to Information 
 

          The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting the report 
writer: 

 

Page 41



Corporate Scrutiny July 09 

 Name:    Mark Nedderman 
 Designation: Senior Scrutiny Officer 

           Tel No:   01270 529640 
            Email:    mark.nedderman@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 
 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 42



Strengthening local democracy
Consultation

July 2009

www.communities.gov.uk
community, opportunity, prosperity

Page 43



July 2009
Department for Communities and Local Government

Strengthening local democracy
Consultation

July 2009

Page 44



Communities and Local Government 
Eland House
Bressenden Place
London
SW1E 5DU
Telephone: 020 7944 4400
Website: www.communities.gov.uk

© Crown Copyright, 2009

Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.

This publication, excluding logos, may be reproduced free of charge in any format or medium for research,
private study or for internal circulation within an organisation. This is subject to it being reproduced accurately
and not used in a misleading context. The material must be acknowledged as Crown copyright and the title
of the publication specified.

Any other use of the contents of this publication would require a copyright licence. Please apply for a Click-Use Licence 
for core material at www.opsi.gov.uk/click-use/system/online/pLogin.asp, or by writing to the Office of Public Sector 
Information, Information Policy Team, Kew, Richmond, Surrey TW9 4DU

e-mail: licensing@opsi.gov.uk

If you require this publication in an alternative format please email alternativeformats@communities.gsi.gov.uk

Communities and Local Government Publications
Tel: 0300 123 1124
Fax: 0300 123 1125
Email: products@communities.gsi.gov.uk
Online via the Communities and Local Government website: www.communities.gov.uk

75%

July 2009

Product Code: 09LGSR06042

ISBN: 978-1-4098-1710-9

Page 45



| 3

Scope of the consultation

Topic of this 
consultation:

This consultation is focused on promoting local democratic renewal 
by strengthening the capacity of local government to serve citizens. 
This forms part of the wider constitutional reform package and 
builds upon a number of the themes that were presented in Building 
Britain’s Future.

Scope of this 
consultation:

This consultation explores whether local government has the powers 
it needs to meet today’s challenges, as part of the Government’s drive 
to renew Britain’s democracy and build trust in the political system at 
all levels. It seeks views from interested parties on the proposals being 
made.

Geographical 
scope:

This consultation applies to England only.

Impact 
assessment:

An impact assessment is in the process of being prepared for this 
consultation which will be published shortly.

Basic Information

To: The public, local authorities, public and private sector organisations, 
voluntary and third sector organisations.

Body/bodies 
responsible 
for the 
consultation:

Local Government Policy and Performance Directorate – Communities 
and Local Government

Duration: 21 July 2009 – 2 October 2009

Enquiries: Via e-mail: localdemocracyconsul@communities.gsi.gov.uk
Or by post to:
Local Democratic Renewal Consultation
Zone 4/G6
Department for Communities and Local Government
Eland House
Bressenden Place
London
SW1E 5DU

Page 46



4 | Strengthening local democracy

How to 
respond:

Via e-mail: localdemocracyconsul@communities.gsi.gov.uk
Or by post to:
Local Democratic Renewal Consultation
Zone 4/G6
Department for Communities and Local Government
Eland House
Bressenden Place
London
SW1E 5DU

Additional 
ways to 
become 
involved:

Hard copies of the consultation can be made available by writing to 
the address above. The consultation will be a written exercise.

After the 
consultation:

A response to the consultation setting out proposed next steps will be 
published in Winter 2009.

Compliance 
with the Code 
of Practice on 
Consultation:

This consultation document and consultation process have 
been planned to adhere to the Government code of practice on 
consultation issued by the then Department for Business Enterprise 
and Regulatory Reform and is in line with the seven consultation 
criteria. The period of consultation will be 10.5 weeks. This is shorter 
than the standard 12 week period so as to maximise time for the 
possibility of taking forward proposals following the consultation.

Background

Getting to 
this stage:

Local Democratic Renewal policy and the associated consultation 
build upon the developments from the Building Britain’s Future
programme.

Previous 
engagement:

The Communities and Local Government Select Committee has 
recently issued its report into the balance of power between central 
and local government. Parliament has debated similar issues recently 
as well as the overall role of local government.
There has not been any consultation on this issue previously, although 
key stakeholders such as the Local Government Association, local 
authorities and other government departments have been closely 
involved in the co-design of associated local government policy.

Page 47



Contents | 5

Contents

Chapter 1 Local government at the centre of decision making 13

Chapter 2 Strong local government operating in the local interest 23

Chapter 3 Local authorities tackling climate change 33

Chapter 4 Sub-regional working 38

Chapter 5 Clear relationships with local government 45

Chapter 6 Consultation arrangements 50

Annex A Local government scrutiny committee powers 54

Page 48



6 | Strengthening local democracy

Strengthening local democracy

Building Britain’s Future1. 1 set out how government wants to work with the people 

of this country to reform our democracy, overcome the recession and build the next 

generation of public services. It makes clear that this will involve a radical dispersal of 

power both to the citizen and to their local elected representatives.

The founding principle of local government is that citizens have the right to influence 2.

the decisions that affect their lives and their communities. Sometimes they may 

exercise this right through personalised services and sometimes by influencing 

local services – for example, by having a direct say over how their neighbourhood is 

policed. And sometimes it will be through lobbying their council.

But a key way in which local citizens are able to exercise that right is their 3.

ability to elect a strong local council which can lead and shape their area.

There is a large and untapped pool of people who would like more say in what 4.

happens in their area. It is right that both central and local government do more to 

give them greater direct control over the decisions that affect their lives and their 

community and councils are doing much to help them explore the opportunities 

available to engage and participate. But we must also recognise that in today’s time 

poor society, citizens only have limited time to give.

That is why the role of councillors and councils, with their unique democratic 5.

mandate is critical to making sure that local services are responsive to the needs 

of their local communities. Citizens have a right  to have their voices heard, and to 

expect those delivering services to care what they think.

So councils must be fully equipped with the powers they need to act 6.

decisively and effectively on behalf of their citizens: the powers and ability 

to scrutinise, influence and shape other services. This is a much stronger role 

for local government, placing it firmly at the centre of decision making in 

their community.

There are other imperatives driving the need for stronger local government.7.

First, strengthening democracy. Councils are unique among public service 

providers in being directly elected, but also in the range of services which they 

directly provide or indirectly secure, their role in leading and contributing to 

local partnerships, and their oversight of the well-being of their citizens and 

communities. That means they are best placed to provide local leadership and 

make sure that public services are being fairly and effectively delivered.

1 http://www.hmg.gov.uk/buildingbritainsfuture.aspx

Page 49



Strengthening local democracy | 7

Second, promoting greater value for money. Since 2004, councils have 

saved £4.5bn through efficiency measures – a significant achievement. The 

recent work by Sir Michael Bichard2 shows that there is scope to go further: 

not simply achieving value for money in councils own spending, but by giving 

councils greater oversight of all the money being spent in their area. This will 

reduce overlap and duplication, making sure that all money is being spent 

effectively and efficiently: fostering innovation and improvement and driving up 

standards of service.

Third, promoting economic development. The current economic situation 

has reinforced the crucial role that councils can play in supporting their 

communities. The best have taken active steps to mitigate the worst impacts 

of the downturn through, for example, offering debt services, supporting new 

apprenticeships, or looking to create new jobs through the Future Jobs Fund. 

Councils are uniquely positioned not just to work with other partners, but to lead 

them, in preparing for recovery and future growth.

Fourth, delivering personalised services. As the drive continues to deliver 

personalised services and enforceable entitlements it will become ever more 

important to ensure that local services are delivered flexibly and in response to 

local needs.

Finally, as 8. Building Britain’s Future makes clear, there are major global and national 

challenges facing this country, including rising expectations of public services; the 

need to restore public trust in politics and democracy; the need to promote economic 

recovery; and the need to adapt to the threat of climate change. Local government 

has a crucial part to play in addressing these challenges as their citizens’ elected 

representative. We want citizens to have a real say in how these challenges are 

tackled, and on what happens in their communities3. This could include getting 

involved in local budgeting decisions, having a say in how local public services are 

run, taking part in petitions, or by taking over facilities for their community. Local 

government is the point at which citizens can get involved in the decisions which 

affect them and a way of reconnecting citizens to the public domain by empowering 

them to influence decisions that affect them.

As a result of recent decisions we have taken, councils have greater financial stability, 9.

greater powers and more responsibilities. The three year finance settlement offers 

councils much greater financial certainty and the prudential system for borrowing 

and investments removed the need for local authorities to get central government 

consent to borrow for capital purposes. They also have powers to promote the 

economic, social, and environmental wellbeing of their area. Councils also now 

have some powers of scrutiny to challenge other service providers and hold them to 

account. In short, they now have a much greater capacity to make a difference.

2 http://www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/vfm_operational_efficiency.htm

3 These issues are set out in Communities in control: real people, real power, Communities and Local Government, July 2008

Page 50



8 | Strengthening local democracy

We now need to go further, making sure that local government has the powers it 10.

needs to respond to these emerging challenges and act decisively on behalf of their 

citizens to drive improvements in local public services.

We envision a powerful new role for local authorities where they:11.

play a central role for citizens in delivering their entitlements, and have flexibility 

and autonomy in meeting local needs

take on the responsibility for responding to emerging local challenges – 

particularly climate change and housing

take greater responsibility for scrutinising and oversight of public money spent 

on local service delivery in an area, in order to drive improvements in services and 

increase value for money.

The combination of the new measures propsed in this consultation, together with 12.

recent reforms, amounts to the biggest transfer of power to elected councillors for a 

generation. But it is not designed to strengthen councils for their own sake – rather to 

strengthen the rights of citizens through their elected representatives.

Scope of consultation

This consultation sets out a range of measures to promote democratic renewal and 13.

strengthen the power and responsibility of local government by:

strengthening councils’ ability to lead and coordinate services in their area. We 

propose to give councils more scope to scrutinise the spending and decisions of 

local service providers

exploring whether there are barriers to using existing powers and whether there 

are other powers which councils should have

ensuring councils have the powers and responsibilities they need to tackle 

climate change

exploring how the powers and responsibilities of sub-regional structures should 

be matched by clear and accountable leadership

exploring how to articulate, develop and support the relationship between 

central and local government so that our respective functions are clear and 

transparent to citizens.

Given the range and depth of recent debate – notably in the context of the Lyons 14.

Inquiry – we are not consulting on the local government finance system here. We 

keep this system constantly under review and will continue to introduce reforms 

where appropriate. For example, we have given councils a new power to raise 

Page 51



Strengthening local democracy | 9

a local business rate supplement. We have recently published a green paper on 

reform of the care and support system4, which could have important implications 

for local government. We have also stated in the Budget that we would explore 

with interested partners how to accelerate new development through innovative 

financing arrangements.

Local government at the centre of decision making

Local government already plays a crucial role in improving their citizens’ lives and 15.

their areas’ prospects. Councillors are recognised and respected as community 

leaders. Councils are directly responsible for a broad range of services: both directly 

delivering some, and commissioning organisations to deliver others. They also have 

an important role in shaping and monitoring services in their area, for example 

in relation to local environmental standards. And they are a major player in local 

strategic partnerships and other groupings which bring service providers together. 

As such, councils are best placed to understand and respond to issue of local 16.

concern, and to bring all agencies – public, private, third sector – to tackle cross-

cutting issues which affect their residents and their community.

We propose to strengthen their capacity to do this: specifically by giving them greater 17.

powers to scrutinise other services and how they spend their money. When they go 

to vote, citizens should be electing someone who can act on their behalf in relation 

to every aspect of local public service spending in their area. Our aspiration is that 

councillors should become a local point of accountability: the place where citizens 

can go to question how public money is being spent, how decisions are being made 

and how services are being delivered. This will be particularly important as public 

services and local councils begin to introduce entitlements to public services as set 

out in Building Britain’s Future.

This would complement, but not replace, the direct relationships individuals already 18.

have with a range of service providers. It would mean that citizens have an easy way 

to make sure their voice is heard in local decision-making. Elected councillors would 

have a clear remit to sort out general problems and failures, maximise the value for 

money of local services, and reduce the burden on the concerned resident who is 

trying to raise concerns.

Councils already have powers to coordinate and scrutinise some local services. But 19.

we need to make sure those powers are being properly used, and extend them much 

more widely. We do not propose to introduce new powers to benefit councils and 

councillors themselves: but to increase their capacity to act more decisively, over a 

broader range of local issues and services, in the interests of their residents. This is a 

natural extension of their existing leadership role.

4 Shaping the Future of Care Together green paper, HM Government 2009

Page 52



10 | Strengthening local democracy

In practice this should mean that:20.

the council takes greater responsibility for co-ordinating service delivery, making 

sure that services are properly joined up and respond to local need

councillors are able to scrutinise and hold other services to account: other service 

providers would need to explain and justify their policies and spending.

The importance of putting the customer first and providing joined-up, more effective 21.

and efficient services, lies behind the ‘Total Place’ initiative announced in Budget 

2009. This is designed to analyse where public money is spent and how services are 

delivered across a whole area, in order to see how this can be improved. The idea 

is that public services work together, rather than individually, in the next phase of 

reform, delivering better services, and reducing costs.

This initiative will help public services reduce complexity, bureaucracy and duplication 22.

by bringing together the evidence on customer needs, and on what is being spent, by 

which agencies, and on what services, to address those needs. Each of the pilots will 

pick at least one particular theme, such as early years, ageing or offenders to explore 

in more detail how the money flows and how the delivery system can be made more 

effective and efficient. These pilots can help identify how all areas should develop in 

the future, and the role that the local authority should play in driving change.

Strong local government operating in the local interest

Building Britain’s Future23.  described how Government will be introducing entitlements 

for citizens. Wherever they live, citizens must have confidence that key public services 

will deliver a certain level of service. Local authorities will have greater autonomy 

to decide how to deliver those entitlements, in turn offering greater freedom to 

innovate.

So a future question being posed for consultation is whether councils have the right 24.

powers to address the challenges their areas face today and deliver improved and 

more efficient services for citizens; or whether there are areas in which they need 

greater control or influence.

We also ask whether there is further scope to reduce the burden of inspection on 25.

local authorities.

We also need to consider how best to support councils to reverse the decline in 26.

satisfaction shown by recent surveys5, despite increasing performance on key public 

5 The latest Citizenship Survey (April to September 2008) results show that 81 per cent of the population are satisfied with their 
areas as a place to live; the 2008 Place Survey shows that only 45 per cent of the population are very or fairly satisfied with the 
way their council runs things. http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/corporate/statistics/placesurvey2008;
http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/corporate/statistics/citizenshipsurveyq2200809

Page 53



Strengthening local democracy | 11

services6. We ask whether granting further powers to local councils should depend 

on rising public confidence in the local council.

Local authorities tackling climate change

A number of councils are already at the forefront of action to tackle climate change. 27.

This consultation asks how we can help them to take the next natural step, and 

contribute to meeting national carbon emissions targets perhaps through developing 

their own local carbon budgets.

Sub-regional working

Partnership working is vital to tackle those problems which cross local authority 28.

boundaries – especially to promote economic growth across a wider area. Some of 

these partnerships formalised these relationships through Multi-Area Agreements 

(MAAs). The Government has also announced two city-region pilots. These will test 

how greater freedom and responsibilities for the partnerships in these areas can help 

them to deliver greater economic prosperity. This consultation document asks how 

the powers of city- and sub-regions could be further strengthened.

But we also need to ensure that greater powers and responsibilities are matched by 29.

clear, democratic and accountable leadership, so that citizens are aware of, and can 

influence, their decision-making.

Clear relationships with local government

All these developments raise the question of the nature of the relationship between 30.

central and local government. We ask whether and how we should articulate that 

relationship in order to make these respective roles and responsibilities clearer to 

citizens. We suggest a series of principles on which central-local relations should 

operate in the future.

We need to consider how this could work in practice: specifically, how to monitor 31.

how each of us is fulfilling our responsibilities without overstepping the boundary. 

This may include scrutiny from a joint Parliamentary select committee with a standing 

mandate to regularly review the state of central-local relations, as proposed by the 

Communities and Local Government Select Committee and/or an ombudsman style 

body. In time, more effective local scrutiny by councils, coupled with entitlements for 

citizens, could reduce the volume of central prescription and inspection by central 

Government.

6 For example, the number of single-tier and county authorities rated as top performers by comprehensive performance assessment in 
2002 was 22; by 2008 this had risen to 62

Page 54



12 | Strengthening local democracy

Notes

Some of the changes proposed in this paper could be achieved rapidly but it also sets 32.

the parameters for the debate over the next five to ten years.

The Impact Assessment relating to proposals in this consultation paper and their 33.

potential impact across a range of sectors is expected to be issued within two weeks 

and will be published on the Communities and Local Government website alongside 

this consultation paper.7 An equality impact assessment initial screening has been 

completed and full assessment will follow. Some of the options mentioned in this 

consultation would require new primary legislation.

The proposals set out in this paper will impose costs on local authorities and will also 34.

deliver significant savings. In line with the Government’s new burdens doctrine, 

any net additional cost to local authorities will be fully and properly funded by the 

Department for Communities and Local Government so that no additional pressure 

is placed on council tax bills.

7 The Impact Assessment will be linked to from: www.communities.gov.uk/publications/localgovernment/localdemocracyconsultation

Page 55



Chapter 1 Local government at the centre of decision making | 13

Chapter 1

Local government at the centre of 
decision making

35. Local government plays a crucial role in delivering better outcomes for their 

citizens and in shaping the local area. They are themselves responsible for a broad 

range of services – either directly or through commissioning and for monitoring 

how services are delivered. They lead or act as one of the major players in many 

partnerships. They also regulate issues such as environmental health.

36. Beyond this, however, councillors are community leaders – taking a broad view of the 

well-being of local people and communities in a way which is not expected of other 

public service providers. So they are best placed to understand and respond to local 

concerns, bringing all the relevant agencies together – public, private, third sector – 

to tackle cross-cutting issues.

37. In each local authority area, billions of pounds are spent every year by a wide range 

of service providers, including the National Health Service, the local police service 

and the local authority itself. For example, a recent analysis in Cumbria demonstrated 

that £7.1bn of public money was spent in the county in 2008.8

38. This consultation proposes that councils should have greater scrutiny and oversight 

of this spending. This will give citizens, working with their councillors, greater 

influence over how public money is spent. We propose to broaden local authority 

scrutiny powers and extend them to a wider range of organisations, so that they can 

better influence local decision making.

39. This would go beyond simply monitoring spending by other bodies and put councils 

at the centre of local decision making, challenging other services to improve. 

This stronger role for councils acting on behalf of citizens should be part of their 

contribution to coordinating frontline delivery across service providers.

The challenge

Local residents should be able to influence the shape of their area and the services 40.

they receive. We want citizens to have a real say in how these challenges are tackled, 

and on what happens in their communities.  This could include getting involved in 

local budgeting decisions, having a say in how local public services are run, taking 

part in petitions, or by taking over facilities for their community.9

8 Nuclear decommissioning, a national benefit with a large local impact, accounts for a quarter of total expenditure in Cumbria

9 These issues are set out in Communities in control: real people, real power, Communities & Local Government, July 2008

Page 56



14 | Strengthening local democracy

However, most people only have limited time or opportunity to become directly 41.

involved in decisions which affect them. So alongside the right to directly shape 

and influence services must go the right to elect a local authority with real power to 

champion the needs of their local area – one that is clear about its responsibilities to 

local citizens. Citizens also need to be confident that when decisions are made about 

things that affect them, it is informed by their concerns and not just by the interests 

of those running the service. That is why we believe that elected councillors, selected 

by voters to represent their interests, should have greater influence over unelected 

service providers.

Our aspiration is for councils to become a local point of accountability for services 42.

across their area. The clearest and most effective way to do that is to give councillors 

greater oversight and responsibility for public spending in their area. Councillors, 

on behalf of their citizens, should be able to scrutinise public spending provision, 

influence decision making and hold other service providers to account. Councils also 

represent the interests of local organisations, including business and third sector.

This has the potential to better deliver the personalised services people want and 43.

expect, while at the same time ensuring that every taxpayer’s pound is used to 

maximum effect. By giving councils the capacity to look more coherently at  public 

money spent delivering local public services in an area; people will be able to see 

more clearly how and by whom their money is being spent. Understanding and 

overseeing expenditure on local service delivery will be a priority for the whole council 

– its leaders and all members.

The Calling and Counting Cumbria project44. 10 which inspired the current Total Place 

initiative showed that £7.1bn of public money was spent in 2008 in the county. 

£1.9bn was controlled or directed by local bodies of which:

forty-two per cent was from the county council

thirty-seven per cent from NHS bodies and

fourteen per cent from district councils

six per cent from the police authority.

The sums involved show how important it is to have one body monitoring this 45.

spending to make sure it is being used to best effect. It is clear this role should fall to 

councils, with their direct mandate to act on behalf of citizens.

Expenditure – while hugely important – is not the only issue on which councils should 46.

be able to call other agencies and services to account. We see councils as central 

to delivery of the minimum entitlements set out in Building Britain’s Future which 

citizens must expect. So councils should:

10 http://www.cumbria.gov.uk/communications/countingcumbria.asp

Page 57



Chapter 1 Local government at the centre of decision making | 15

be able to make other service providers explain and justify their policies, in order 

to make sure they are properly responding to local need

co-ordinate front-line service delivery, so that citizens receive the properly joined-

up, personalised services that they are entitled to.

The best way to support councils take on this stronger role is to increase their powers 47.

of scrutiny. Councils do currently have some well-established powers of scrutiny over 

health and police services. But these have not yet had the impact which we believe is 

necessary. We therefore set out proposals to:

broaden the scope of powers which councils can use to carry out their scrutiny 

function

widen the range of organisations over which these powers can be used

ensure that local people and their needs are the driving force behind these 

enhanced powers.

The current picture

Local expenditure

A great deal of work has gone into making public money in local areas go as far as 48.

possible, and making sure it is used to best effect. Since 2004 councils have achieved 

£4.5bn of efficiency savings – a significant achievement.

The Total Place initiative will show what more it is possible to achieve. In pilot areas, 49.

all public spending is being assessed, in order to make sure that it is best, and most 

efficiently, used to deliver what the local communities need. We have also consulted 

on how to develop local spending reports further and will be publishing an account 

of responses shortly. We will make decisions on how best to take forward these 

reports in the light of the total place pilots.

Page 58



16 | Strengthening local democracy

Total Place

Big efficiency savings have already been delivered while services have improved. 

But more services can and should be designed around the needs of individuals, 

rather than around the convenience of institutions. This should both improve the 

standard of service people receive, and encourage the innovation and efficiency, 

that are vital to delivering the high standards and value for money that people 

quite rightly demand from their services. This means finding new ways of doing 

things, sharing best practice and acting jointly for the common good.

To deliver the improvements needed in public services, we need a deeper 

understanding of the needs of the community, space for local responsiveness 

and innovation, and effective co-operation – between public services locally and 

between central and local government. The Total Place pilots aim to demonstrate 

the clear benefits of service providers working together effectively to improve 

services by removing inefficiency and duplication between organisations 

and putting the needs of users first. They will seek to highlight where central 

Government can remove unintended barriers which prevent services working 

effectively together, so creating stronger incentives for co-operation and joint 

improvement.

How does scrutiny currently work?

Scrutiny powers are a potentially powerful tool which enables councillors to 50.

represent the views of citizens on services which the council is not directly responsible 

for. Councils use scrutiny committees in a similar way to select committees in 

Parliament. These committees of non-executive councillors are able to challenge the 

council leadership on the issues they are responsible for. They also carry out reviews 

into local issues of importance and make reports and recommendations for change 

to those taking the decisions.

Overview and scrutiny has a different scope for different services – with health, and 51.

crime and disorder being the most advanced. For other bodies, the requirements 

relate to the LAA targets. The bodies that are currently required to engage in 

overview and scrutiny in relation to LAA targets include Environment Agency, Fire 

and Rescue Authorities, JobCentre Plus, Youth Offending Teams, Police Authorities, 

Primary Care Trusts, Regional Development Agencies, Learning and Skills Council, 

and the Homes and Communities Agency11.

There are, however, no formal limits on what local government scrutiny can look 52.

at – committees can examine any issue of importance to the community. Many 

committees look at the work of a range of public and private service providers and 

they can request information from these bodies. They work in partnership with 

11 A full list of duty to co-operate bodies is included at Annex A.

Page 59



Chapter 1 Local government at the centre of decision making | 17

health bodies and police forces to scrutinise local health and crime and disorder 

issues, meaning that elected members can already have a voice over how these 

services are delivered. This autumn we will publish statutory guidance for local 

authorities, people working in the NHS and interested people that will set out how 

overview and scrutiny can be improved in the health services.

We are also strengthening the scrutiny function53. 12 so that:

councils will also be able to scrutinise other public bodies working with the 

council on the priority targets set out in the local area agreement

councils will be required to designate a dedicated scrutiny officer

residents will be able to appeal to the scrutiny committee if they are not satisfied 

with their council’s response to a public petition.

Scope of scrutiny arrangements

Scrutiny powers have come a long way since their introduction in the constitutional 54.

changes brought into force in 2000. However, scrutiny too often relies on the 

voluntary cooperation of service providers.

For scrutiny to really punch its weight, there needs to be a strong connection 55.

between scrutiny committees and local people. In many authorities, members of 

the public can, and do already get involved in scrutiny in a range of ways, including 

suggesting topics for review, or by being a co-opted member of a committee. 

There are good examples of this working in practice – for example, when Tower 

Hamlets carried out a review of young people’s participation in sports leading up to 

the Olympics, an extensive consultation informed by the views of around 300 young 

people helped to shape the recommendations made by the scrutiny committee. 

However, as yet this level of involvement remains relatively limited13.

The duty on councils to promote democracy, requiring them to explain the 56.

opportunities for people to influence decisions affecting public services and how they 

can get involved, should go some way to address this. But we are seeking views on 

how we could go further still and make sure that citizens have a stronger connection 

to their scrutiny committees. 

We know that democracy is stronger when it is fully representative, and as such, we 57.

have been working to increase diversity amongst councillors. This will help to ensure 

that both executive and scrutiny functions of local authorities are fully representative 

and able to take proper account of the diverse communities that they serve. There 

are, also, wider related issues around councillor recognition and conduct, however, 

these do not form part of this consultation.

12 Including through provisions in the Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction Bill currently before Parliament.

13 A recent survey by Centre for Public Scrutiny for example showed that public engagement in scrutiny is low with 51 per cent of 
authorities reporting that they had not received any suggestions from the public for scrutiny reviews in 2007.

Page 60



18 | Strengthening local democracy

Future options

Increasing the power and range of scrutiny is absolutely central to our vision of 58.

independent, strong and effective local government. It is a major route through 

which the voice and interests of local people, through their elected representatives, 

can be brought to bear on the national and local institutions which provide the local 

services which are vital to all of our lives. Of course, councils are not the only point of 

accountability, since people will still have a direct relationship with individual services, 

but they are an important place where residents can raise their concerns and expect 

that their elected representative will take appropriate action. In addition, services 

have other points of accountability, such as the national or regional level.

We should not expect people to have a detailed knowledge about the intricacies 59.

of local service provision – funding streams, management structures or spheres of 

responsibility – in order to raise a concern or complaint. Nor should they be expected 

to do so at the administrative convenience of those bodies. And co-operation 

between these bodies should not be left to chance. Scrutiny committees have a vital 

role to play in making sure that these services work as effectively as possible.

The extensions of scrutiny proposed in this document may raise issues of relevance 60.

to policing. It is intended that where consultation responses relate to this important 

local service they will be considered through the White Paper on policing which is 

planned for the autumn14. For practical reasons Regional Development Agencies are 

not considered to be part of this consultation in relation to proposed extensions to 

scrutiny, beyond current arrangements and those in the Local Democracy, Economic 

Development and Construction Bill currently before Parliament.

Extending the scope of formal scrutiny arrangements

We want to examine whether the scope of scrutiny powers should be increased so 61.

that they cover all of the issues that matter to the local community. Other than for 

health, and crime and disorder matters15, formal scrutiny powers are currently limited 

to those bodies that are under a duty to co-operate with a local authority in setting 

and delivering the priorities established in the Local Area Agreement (LAA)16. Other 

than on crime and disorder, and on health, scrutiny committees can only use these 

powers when the issue at hand falls under the scope of priorities set out in the LAA.

But the issues which matter to local people often go beyond the scope of LAAs. 62.

And they relate to many other organisations than just those who are responsible for 

delivering the priorities set out in this agreement. Although in some places, other 

14 The recent report A People’s Police Force: Police Accountability in the Modern Era, Rt Hon David Blunkett MP, 2009 will also be an 
important piece of work to consider in thinking about the accountability of local bodies going forward, including the police.

15 Separate provision is made for the scrutiny of health and crime and disorder matters through the NHS Act 2006, and Police & Justice 
Act 2006.

16 The duty to co-operate applies to named public sector agencies working in partnership with local authorities through local area 
agreements. A list of these agencies appears at Annex A.

Page 61



Chapter 1 Local government at the centre of decision making | 19

local service providers who have not formally signed up to the LAA – for example 

utility companies – voluntarily co-operate with council scrutiny reviews, this is not 

always the case. Whilst they each have their own accountability arrangements and 

standards to uphold (for example Ofgem’s role for gas and electricity companies), 

there are currently no requirements to respond to issues raised by council scrutiny 

committees despite the impact that the activities of these bodies can sometimes have 

on the local area. In too many cases, in order to address issues of concern, scrutiny 

committees have to come up with ways to persuade or shame other agencies into 

attending their meetings or co-operating with reviews. In some cases, their requests 

are flatly refused.

If they are to act effectively on citizen’s behalf, on all the issues which matter to them, 63.

we need to further strengthen the scrutiny powers which councils have. This would 

mean:

broadening the number of bodies which can be subject to scrutiny committees: 

not limited to those responsible for health, crime and disorder or council 

functions, nor just those responsible for priority targets set out in the LAA

enhancing the powers which these committees have. Officers and board 

members could be required to appear in front of the committee

enabling scrutiny committees to make reports and recommendations to a 

wider range of bodies for their consideration, and these bodies could be required 

to have regard to the recommendations and formally respond to scrutiny 

committees

This consultation will seek views on the issues which should be subject to this enhanced 64.

scrutiny.17 Subject to views, we propose to offer councils greater scrutiny over:

police strategies in local authority areas, plans for which will be developed 

for consultation by the Home Office in the autumn

fire and rescue authorities, to make sure their plans18 fully reflect the right 

balance of protection, prevention and response for different communities; and 

to examine performance of individual fire and rescue authorities against their 

published equality and diversity plans

local authorities’ delivery of high-quality educational provision to meet 

local demands and aspirations as well as for supporting and challenging schools 

17 These proposals build on the issues considered in the ‘Improving Local Accountability Consultation’ (published 7 August 2008) which 
sought views on the approach to the legislative framework underpinning the extension of council scrutiny powers to LAA partner 
authorities in the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act, 2007 and the further proposals for strengthening scrutiny 
announced in the Communities in Contol White Paper, 2008.

18 Each fire and rescue authority is required to consult and publish its integrated risk management planning (IRMP). IRMP is about 
improving public safety, reducing the number of fire incidents and saving lives. Integrated risk management has shifted the focus in 
planning to put people first, looking at the risks arising from all fires and other emergency incidents, and at the options for reducing 
and managing them.

Page 62



20 | Strengthening local democracy

to improve. These issues as set out in the Department for Children, Schools and 

Families’ White Paper on 21st Century Schools would ensure further support 

to these issues that are of great importance to parents and more widely to local 

communities

probation authorities over issues such as release of ex-offenders into an area, 

or making sure that they have timely access to local services that may be critical 

to prevent further offending. Councillors could also have a role in scrutinising the 

other partners involved in supporting reducing offending

provision of public transport and transport infrastructure

Jobcentre Plus and other employment related services in the local area

utility companies: for example, where repairs which are badly organised and 

co-ordinated, causing unreasonable inconvenience, the overview and scrutiny 

committee would be able to look into the matter and make recommendations 

which the utility company would be required to have regard to, on future 

improvement programmes

young people’s education and skills issues, while recognising the 

independence of colleges and other learning providers. These services have 

a high degree of relevance for local communities, as shown by 84% of areas 

having at least one of the skills indicators in their Local Area Agreement and this 

has been recognised by the Government’s decision to transfer funding to local 

authorities for education and training for 16–18-year-olds, supported by the 

creation of the Young Person’s Learning Agency. Ensuring that these broader 

scrutiny powers apply to this issue and the range of partners involved will enable 

the ambition to put the young learner at the heart of a system to be fully realised. 

The Learning and Skills Council and its adult skills successor body, the Skills 

Funding Agency, will continue to be subject to the duty to co-operate through 

the LAA process.

Making scrutiny work more effectively for citizens

Those scrutiny committees which are really effective are those which are well 65.

supported by their local authority. We are already requiring lead councils to designate 

an officer to support the scrutiny committee, which will help raise the profile and 

visibility of scrutiny.

The proposals in this consultation will further increase the status of scrutiny as one 66.

of the council’s central roles.  As the democratically accountable leaders of their 

areas, it will be a priority for every council leader to ensure that their council’s scrutiny 

activities are effective. This will involve leaders and council executives considering 

carefully the resources that are devoted to scrutiny and the status accorded to those 

leading the scrutiny work.

Page 63



Chapter 1 Local government at the centre of decision making | 21

One option is to place a duty on council chief executives to ensure that committees 67.

have adequate resources to carry out their work. While recognising the importance 

of scrutiny, this would also mean that final decisions on how best to organise 

resources are left with those who are best-placed to make them.

We also believe that scrutiny should take greater visibility and recognition as befits 68.

its vital role. A visible commitment by a local authority to the importance of overview 

of scrutiny would be ranking the position of chair of certain overview and scrutiny 

committees in the authority on a par with a cabinet post. This might include the 

special responsibility allowance for this post being equal to that of a cabinet member 

in the authority.

There is also the question of whether, and how, in extending scrutiny,  executive 69.

members could be further involved in these activities in relation to the full range of 

local public services. This would have to be consistent with the need to avoid conflicts 

of interest between the executive’s decision making role and the ability of the non-

executive councillors to scrutinise those decisions.

There are also more open questions about the support that councils and those 70.

individuals charged with carrying out this function may need. As well as fully 

understanding how their council operates, councillors will need to fully appreciate 

the complexities of partnership working, and the context and legal framework in 

which those partners operate. They may well benefit from

expert advice from citizens or interest groups

more training and support

wider opportunities for sharing best practice

71. This consultation asks how best, in addition to any statutory measures, the 

local government scrutiny function can best be supported, possibly through 

measures identified above.

Summary

Building on the current arrangements in place, we propose to strengthen the existing 72.

scrutiny powers as follows (a summary of the relationship between current and 

potential future local government scrutiny powers is included at Annex A including a 

list of duty to co-operate bodies):

making the description of scrutiny powers more explicit about local councils’ role 

in scrutinising expenditure on delivery of local public services in an area

bringing a range of local public services fully under the scrutiny powers of local 

authorities with a focus on what matters for local people and local communities

Page 64



22 | Strengthening local democracy

extending scrutiny powers in relation to LAA partners by removing the current 

limitations to scrutiny of specific LAA targets, and extending scrutiny powers 

more generally to a wider range of bodies whose activities may be crucial to the 

development of the area

extending scrutiny powers to enable committees to require attendance by 

officers or board members from partner bodies to give evidence at scrutiny 

hearings (similar to the powers already in existence for health and police)

At their most developed, the proposals in this consultation paper could mean a 73.

total of almost £250 billion public money would be subject to council scrutiny. This 

includes councils’ own spending plus potentially more than £100 billion of public 

money a year spent on key local public services that were delivered locally but not by 

local government19.

In all these proposals it will be important to strike the right balance to ensure that the 74.

operational independence of external bodies is not compromised. These proposals 

are not about scrutinising the day to day actions of police officers, or clinical 

decisions, for example, but rather to enable councils to scrutinise the way in which 

services are delivered. We have a duty to citizens to ensure that bodies spending 

public money and delivering public services in local areas are open to appropriate, 

proper challenge and effective scrutiny by the democratically elected councillors for 

that area. We are also clear that local scrutiny must keep to those issues which affect 

local service delivery. 

These proposals are not intended to add additional layers of bureaucratic process. 75.

On the contrary, they are intended to simplify the existing arrangements by removing 

certain limitations and restrictions that exist within the current legislative framework. 

Nor do we see these proposals leading to a free for all investigation of external 

bodies, or multiple requests for information from individual councillors. Many 

scrutiny committees will continue to operate as they do now; investigating issues 

of concern to local people as part of an agreed programme of work for the year 

and most of those issues are likely to relate to priorities already identified in the local 

area agreement. For those issues that do not, scrutiny committees would be able to 

use their enhanced powers in order to fully investigate on behalf of local people. In 

using their powers, scrutiny committees would be expected to consider the potential 

burdens of their requests on external bodies (in the same way as they will for LAA 

scrutiny under the current arrangements). This is an important issue, generally, but 

is more so when a body that will be scrutinised has a relationship with a number of 

individual councils. In these instances we would expect the individual councils to 

consider the impact of this ‘many to one’ situation in when and how they approach 

other bodies, for instance in issues of common interests joining up of requests with 

others. We will consider how best manage this issue In taking forward any proposals 

from this consultation.

19 Estimated cost of public services delivered locally but not by local government in 2007-08 is based on a subjective analysis of 
Table 10.1 from Public Expenditure Statistical Analyses 2009, Cm 7630, published by HM Treasury.

Page 65



Chapter 1 Local government at the centre of decision making | 23

Consultation questions

Do you agree that we should extend scrutiny powers in relation to Local 1.

Area Agreement (LAA) partners to cover the range of their activities in an 

area, not just those limited to specific LAA targets?

Do we need to make scrutiny powers more explicit in relation to local 2.

councils’ role in scrutinising expenditure on delivery of local public services 

in an area? If so, what is the best way of achieving this?

Do you agree that we should bring all or some of the local public services as 3.

set out in this chapter fully under the local authority scrutiny regime? Are 

there other bodies who would benefit from scrutiny by Local Government?

How far do you agree that we should extend scrutiny powers to enable 4.

committees to require attendance by officers or board members of external 

organisations to give evidence at scrutiny hearings, similar to the powers 

already in existence for health and police?

What more could be done to ensure that councils adequately resource 5.

and support the local government scrutiny function to carry out its role to 

full effect?

How can council leaders ensure that scrutiny is a core function of how their 6.

organisations do business and have a full and proper role in scrutinising the 

full range of local public services?

What more could be done to better connect and promote the important 7.

role of local government scrutiny to local communities, for example, 

citizens as expert advisers to committees?

Page 66



24 | Strengthening local democracy

Chapter 2

Strong local government operating in 
the local interest

76. A critical question for this consultation is whether councils have the right powers to 

(a) address the challenges their communities face today and (b) to deliver improved 

and more efficient services for citizens.

77. This is particularly important given the introduction of entitlements as set out in 

Building Britain’s Future. As local authorities start to respond, and as they become 

responsible for greater scrutiny and oversight, it is right that we ask whether they 

have the capacity they need to deliver for their local citizens.

78. The Government also wants to reduce bureaucracy and the burdens associated with 

inspection. This consultation considers how we can build upon the introduction of 

the new system of comprehensive area assessment.

The challenge

Councils have a clear and direct mandate from local people to govern their areas. 79.

Councils, therefore, need to have the necessary power and responsibility to meet 

the legitimate expectations of local people. This is at the heart of strong local 

government.

There are three important issues under consideration here.80.

First, do councils require strategic functions to meet the needs of local 

people? If so, do they need additional powers to do so? For example, some 

authorities – or even groups of authorities – wish to have a more visible, active, 

and tangible role in dealing with climate change (this is addressed later in this 

consultation). There are likely, however, to be other similar areas where local 

authorities could play a bigger role.

Second, are there barriers to councils exercising the powers they 

already have?

Page 67



Chapter 2 Strong local government operating in the local interest | 25

Third, can we lighten the central Government inspection regime?

Government has already done much to free councils from unnecessary 

performance management. However, the introduction of entitlements and the 

effective use of scrutiny may allow councils to identify and resolve performance 

issues earlier, and therefore reduce the need for central government intervention. 

This is not to say that intervention will never happen. It is right that Government 

should intervene where there is critical or sustained underperformance, 

especially in the case of services that safeguard the most vulnerable. However 

the aim is for such underperformance to be rarer, and as a consequence for 

intervention to be limited to the most serious concerns.

These changes would need to be matched by growing public confidence in local 81.

authorities’ ability to shape services or their area. As such, the continuing transfer of 

power depends on citizens’ demonstrable and growing confidence in councils.

Councils need governance models that readily deliver (a) strategic leadership, (b) 82.

sharp accountability, and (c) effective and efficient decision taking. It is recognised 

that this can be achieved through a range of models, including with a mayor. 

The Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007 builds on the 

experience of the 12 English local authorities who adopted directly elected mayoral 

forms of governance, and relaxed the procedure for changing council governance 

arrangements. Where a council wishes to move to the mayoral model it can either 

hold a referendum or, following consultation and the drawing up of proposals for 

change, to resolve to make the move to a directed elected mayor. Government 

believes this is the right approach for the current time.

Government is looking at issues on councillor recognition and conduct separately 83.

and they do not form part of this consultation.

The current picture

Current levels of devolution

Since 1997 local authorities have gained significant powers, responsibilities and 84.

financial freedoms from central government. This has included the three year 

finance settlement, a new prudential borrowing regime, and powers to promote the 

economic, social, and environmental well-being of their area. Through Local Area 

Agreements (LAAs), councils work with their partners to target local priorities and 

meet local needs.

Local councils have also taken a direct leadership role in supporting their communities 85.

through difficult times. Many have been offering practical help to those experiencing 

trouble with debt or at risk of repossession; others have been supporting new 

apprenticeships or looking to create new jobs through the Future Jobs Fund.

Page 68



26 | Strengthening local democracy

Parliament has recently agreed to give a discretionary power for councils to raise and 86.

retain a supplement on the national business rate and to use those funds to support 

additional projects aimed at the economic development of their local area.

Following the Review of Council Housing Finance, the Minister for Housing has 87.

announced a consultation on plans to dismantle the housing revenue account 

subsidy system and replace it with a devolved system of responsibility and funding for 

local authorities – self-financing. This will allow local authorities to keep the receipts 

from the sale and rent of council homes to reinvest in new housing. We are also 

passing the leadership of over £0.5 billion of skills spending, dedicated to English for 

Speakers of Other Languages and informal adult learning is currently being passed 

from the Learning and Skills Council to local authorities.

88. The measures proposed in this consultation, together with recent reforms, 

represent the most substantial and radical transfer of power to councils for a 

generation.

Entitlements

Building Britain’s Future89.  sets out the Government’s programme for further reform 

of public services, based on moving from a system based primarily on targets and 

central direction to one where individuals have enforceable entitlements over the 

service they receive. Wherever they live, citizens will be able to have confidence that 

public services will deliver a certain level of service.

For local authorities, this will bring greater autonomy to decide how these 90.

entitlements will be met and generate greater freedom to innovate.

The Government’s green paper on Rights and Responsibilities91. 20 recognises that a 

broad range of related entitlements are already embedded in UK legislation and 

reflected in the institutions which oversee their implementation. Many of these 

entitlements are enforceable, either because mechanisms to ensure their delivery 

(such as tribunals) are explicitly provided for in legislation or because they are 

susceptible to judicial review by the courts. Legally enforceable entitlements to a 

variety of social and economic welfare provisions are not a new concept in the UK. 

But in considering ways to set out new entitlements, including in relation to local 

government, there is a range of possible options which lie across a continuum. As 

explored in the green paper the options range from a set of legally enforceable 

provisions, to duties and responsibilities placed on public authorities, to statements 

of principle which would not be justiciable in the courts but would be enforceable 

through non legal means. Some of these issues are explored further in chapter 5 on 

clear relationships with local government.

20 Rights and responsibilities: delivering our constitutional framework, Ministry of Justice, 2009

Page 69



Chapter 2 Strong local government operating in the local interest | 27

Current powers

Councils already enjoy wide ranging powers – most significantly, the ‘well-being 92.

power’ introduced in the Local Government Act 2000, which gives councils a general 

power of first resort to promote and improve the economic, social and environmental 

well-being of their areas.

Councils have used this to adopt a number of innovations. One local authority has 93.

taken quick and effective action to purchase houses on an estate in rapid decline with 

anti-social behaviour and drug-related problems. A London borough used the well-

being power to support involvement in a new form of partnership arrangement with 

the primary care trust, purchasing a holding in the company that will be the basis 

of future partnership arrangements. This has given the council an ongoing stake in 

the activities of the company, even though it involves interests beyond the council’s 

boundaries21.

However, evidence suggests that this power is not as widely used as it might be94. 22,

there is an on-going debate about the need for a general power of competence and 

a recent court case23 has established that the well-being power is not available to 

enable councils to set up a mutual insurance company. These issues are addressed 

later in this chapter.

Wide-ranging local government responsibilities

Through LAAs, councils and other local agencies are working in partnership to 95.

identify and focus their efforts on the things that matter most to local people and 

which will make the most difference to the quality of life in their area.

This focus on local need and ambition drives innovation in other areas. Partners are 96.

increasingly recognising the links between their work – for example, planning policy 

has been influenced by the recognition that a well-designed built environment can 

promote health and well-being and help develop sustainable communities, providing 

opportunities for people to build physical activity into their lives. Planning also helps 

ensure the provision of high-quality health and social care facilities.

A growing number of primary care trusts and local authorities are working closely 97.

together to deliver their commitments to health and social care in the local area. This 

has been encouraged by the joint approach to issues set out in the joint strategic 

needs assessment and includes pooling/aligning of budgets, joint appointments and 

shared oversight.

21 See Practical Use of the Well-Being Power, Communities and Local Government 2008, for details of these and further examples

22 The 2006 survey of English Local Strategic Partnerships (LSPs) found that 92 per cent of responding LSPs were aware of the well-
being power and 19 per cent had considered using it, but only 8 per cent had actually done so.

23 Brent London Borough Council; Risk Management Partners Limited; London Authorities Mutual Limited & Harrow London Borough 
Council: 2009 EWCA Civ 490

Page 70



28 | Strengthening local democracy

Reducing bureaucracy and inspection

Effective performance is an important part of building trust between citizens and 98.

local government. Central government is committed to safeguarding citizens’ 

interests whilst reducing the burden of bureaucracy and inspection. As a result, since 

2003-04 we have reduced the cost of public service inspection by a third.

Government has improved and refined the system of inspection for councils and 99.

has agreed an improvement and efficiency strategy published jointly with the Local 

Government Association24 which deals with the issue of when government should 

intervene. These reforms should further reduce inspection and bureaucracy for local 

councils. With these changes comes responsibility for councils to ensure that they 

exercise all their functions transparently, fairly, efficiently and in the best interests of 

the people they serve.

Through the new comprehensive area assessment (CAA), Government has 100.

committed to proportionate, integrated assessment of local public service. All 

councils will be assessed, but stronger performers can expect to be inspected less 

often. CAA will bring together assessments of performance across each local 

area and focus more on the delivery of outcomes, on citizens’ experiences and 

perspectives, and on places and partnerships rather than just individual institutions. 

This new system will also be much more open and visible for citizens – for example, 

the inspectorates are developing a user friendly web-based reporting tool for their 

assessments which are due to be published by the end of the year.

The six inspectorates of local services are working together more closely than ever 101.

before. Inspectorates are working along ‘Collect Once, Use Numerous Times’ 

(COUNT) principles. And we are committed to further reducing the burden of 

inspection by making best use of local performance management arrangements and 

existing data to inform judgements, rather than requiring further evidence.

The effect of CAA will mean that inspection is targeted where it can have the greatest 102.

impact or where the risks of failure are most significant. Over time, we expect that 

other performance frameworks will become closely aligned with CAA so that is 

becomes the main assessment of public services. We will monitor progress to make 

sure that CAA brings the expected benefits.

Even in well run organisations, things will go wrong from time to time. When they 103.

do it is essential the council puts things right quickly and wrongs are righted. Elected 

councillors have a crucial part to play in ensuring this happens – that high standards 

are set and maintained and that services are responsive to the needs of their residents.

But in some cases specialist support will be needed from outside the authority. The 104.

improvement and efficiency strategy makes it clear that this support should come 

first from others working in local government.

24 National Improvement and Efficiency Strategy, Communities and Local Government/Local Government Association, 2008

Page 71



Chapter 2 Strong local government operating in the local interest | 29

Central government retains the ability to intervene where there is critical or sustained 105.

underperformance, for example where entitlements are not met. In such instances, 

the required action by government may range from: an improvement notice 

(issued by the appropriate Secretary of State); use of statutory powers to direct the 

organisation to take specific action to secure recovery or improvement; or in the 

most serious cases, the relevant Secretary of State may appoint a nominee to exercise 

certain specified functions of the authority.

Future options

A strong, revitalised local democracy needs the appropriate powers and freedoms 106.

to drive forward results for local people. In addressing the challenges facing our 

country there are important questions about the nature of local government’s role. 

This is given separate consideration in chapter 3 with relation to local authorities’ role 

tackling climate change.

Entitlements

Building Britain’s Future107.  advanced a new agenda for our public services and 

local government. It outlined how the next stage of public service reform will be 

characterised by moving from a system based primarily on targets and central 

direction to one where individuals and communities will have enforceable 

entitlements over the services they receive.

The introduction of new entitlements will require public services to ensure 108.

that residents’ rights to these are met. Local government will have a key role 

in ensuring these entitlements are delivered and the proposals for enhanced 

scrutiny in this document will help councillors deliver this.

As entitlements to public services are introduced we shall review the possibility of 109.

reducing the number of LAA targets agreed with government. This builds on the 

recommendation in the Treasury’s report on the Operational Efficiency Programme25

and will give local areas and services greater autonomy in delivering improved 

outcomes. However, as the experience of LAAs has demonstrated, there is great 

value in important local needs and priorities being formally recognised between 

central government and local agencies. We will, therefore, consider how a reduction 

in LAA targets may work in practice, for example by being accompanied by proposals 

to ensure that public services in an area pledge to meet the most important priorities 

of their citizens.

Formal powers

The well-being power is vital for local authorities to act in the interest of their local 110.

communities and we want to support local authorities to make use of it.

25 Operational Efficiency Programme, HM Treasury, 2009

Page 72



30 | Strengthening local democracy

However, the recent court case on mutual insurance has dented confidence in the 111.

ability of councils to use this power to take forward complex arrangements.

Changing the well-being power or introducing another form of general power 112.

would not be certain to ensure local authorities could engage in mutual insurance 

arrangements.

Government is not opposed to local authorities developing this and 113.

similar types of arrangement. Subject to this consultation we are therefore 

proposing to introduce, at the first legislative opportunity possible, 

a specific power to enable councils to engage in mutual insurance 

arrangements.

We also ask whether there are other similar arrangements – beyond mutual 114.

insurance – which councils believe could be beneficial but which are potentially 

out of scope of existing powers. We will use the evidence gathered here to decide 

whether further action should be taken.

Building confidence in councils

As established above, a continuing transfer of power needs to be clearly linked to 115.

citizens’ demonstrable and growing confidence in councils. A key issue is therefore 

how councils can build confidence amongst local people in their ability to deliver for 

the area. This is important to begin to reverse the decline in confidence shown by 

recent surveys.

We are asking how that can best be achieved, including how central government can 116.

support local government in their efforts to rebuild declining confidence.

Health and social care functions

There are already many strong links between local government and Primary Care 117.

Trusts, reflecting the importance of joint working in this area and reflecting the 

community leadership role of local government.

This can be seen in relation to:118.

issues of public health – such as teenage pregnancy and obesity – where local 

government already plays a direct role

recognising the links between a good local environment, local service provision 

and general good health and

an increasing sense that local primary care health services play an important 

community role – whether supporting people back into work or enabling people 

to access broader ranges of advice and support beyond direct health intervention.

Page 73



Chapter 2 Strong local government operating in the local interest | 31

This is reflected in:

the importance of health indicators in LAAs

government’s further commitments to allow commissioning and provision for 

health to be locally led

strengthening the overview and scrutiny function of local authorities so that they 

can make a pro-active contribution to local decision making across the NHS.

Many Primary Care Trusts and local authorities are already working together on 119.

joint appointments with the ambition to improve joint working between health 

and local government. Joint appointments are being explored in a number of local 

areas around: joint commissioning managers of children’s services; joint heads for 

integrated commissioning for adult services; older people commissioners and mental 

health services.

Local authorities are also responsible for provision of social care for their 120.

communities. Again, there has been concern to ensure strong links between health, 

social care and wider services to enable high quality services for local people.

Within the current statutory framework, our approach is permissive not prescriptive. 121.

Our aim is to give local organisations the space to innovate, not to impose 

organisational change upon them. In the NHS we maintain there will be no top down 

reorganisation of Primary Care Trusts or Strategic Health Authorities. We believe 

that there are considerable benefits to be gained from developing further closer 

relationships between local authorities and Primary Care Trusts. We would support 

local initiatives to share staff and to further develop joint accountability and scrutiny 

arrangements.

Ensuring effective integrated transport

The Local Transport Act 2008 allows cities and other places to make proposals to 122.

improve the way transport is planned and delivered in their area. Integrated Transport 

Authorities, with powers specifically tailored to the place in question, can then be 

created through secondary legislation. The Local Democracy, Economic Development 

and Construction Bill, currently before Parliament, would pave the way for a similar 

arrangement covering wider functions as well, such as like land-use planning and 

economic development.

The developments of scrutiny proposed in this document will support good local 123.

engagement within cities, as elsewhere. It will be important to ensure that whilst city-

wide bodies are responsive to the needs of local communities, they act in the best 

interests of the city as a whole, as discussed later in this document.

Page 74



32 | Strengthening local democracy

However, there remain questions of what more can be done to ensure ITAs and 124.

councils support each other in developing effective transport for local communities 

and also whether ITAs, that cross council boundaries, have sufficient powers, 

incentives and levers to meet their ambition. These are issues that this consultation 

would welcome comment on.

Reducing bureaucracy and inspection

The improvement and efficiency strategy125. 26 published jointly with the Local 

Government Association sets out the Government’s approach to intervention. 

The principles set out in chapter 5 may offer scope to increase the weight to this 

established position, making it more explicit that local government should be free to 

exercise its functions in the interests of their citizens without unnecessary direction or 

control from central government or other agencies. This principle reflects the current 

Government position on intervention.

We will also discuss the results of the recent Local Government Association/126.

Improvement and Development Agency consultation on sector-led support27 to 

establish an agreed joint approach to tackling failure and underperformance, 

including the roles and responsibilities of elected councillors and ministers.

There is a powerful case for the next stage of development to be one where effective 127.

local scrutiny, coupled with entitlements, leads to reductions in the volume of central 

prescription and inspection. This will not be an immediate change, and relies on local 

government delivering on the use of powers and responsibility given, but responses 

to this consultation should bear this long-term ambition in mind.

Partnerships

Strong local partnerships are needed to deliver the high quality public services 128.

that citizens expect and democratically elected leaders and councillors are 

getting involved in partnerships to good effect. The first assessments of the Audit 

Commission and other inspectorates under the comprehensive area assessment are 

looking at the delivery of outcomes delivered in partnership.

But we cannot take effective partnership working for granted. Effective partnerships 129.

generally share a number of strong characteristics that seek to actively empower 

and engage with their partners and communities. Research into Local Strategic 

Partnerships and Beacon councils has identified that partners need:

informal as well as formal ways of working

developed trust and understanding

strong connections to the democratic processes

26 National Improvement and Efficiency Strategy, Communities and Local Government/Local Government Association, 2008

27 Setting the Pace: Developing a framework for sector-led help, Local Government Association?Improvement and Development 
Agency, 2009

Page 75



Chapter 2 Strong local government operating in the local interest | 33

mechanisms for scrutiny and holding partners to account

to raise aspirations and are ambitious and challenging

to keep things simple

transparency on what partners contribute

space to innovate – to look for new solutions

good information systems.

Whilst much partnership working is useful and effective, we also need 130.

to ask whether all the partnerships are needed or whether they could 

be streamlined. We need to make sure that each is essential, with a clear 

purpose and remit, with easily understood responsibilities.

Consultation questions

How best should any reduction in numbers of LAA targets ensure that 8.

services are responsive to the most important local needs and priorities as 

well as national entitlements?

Should councils have a power to engage in mutual insurance 9.

arrangements?

Are there other powers needed to cover engagement in further complex 10.

arrangements of a possibly speculative nature outside of existing powers?

Do you agree that greater powers should be premised on demonstration 11.

of local confidence? How should this be demonstrated? How can councils 

best reverse the decline in confidence?

Are there core issues that should have greater council control which 12.

councils believe they are currently prevented from undertaking? If so what 

are they and what is the case for councils to take on these roles?

Do you agree that there should be a review of the structure of local 13.

partnerships with a view to identifying unhelpful overlap and duplication? 

Are there particular issues on which such a review should focus?

Page 76



34 | Strengthening local democracy

Chapter 3

Local authorities tackling climate change

131. Climate change is the greatest long-term threat facing the world today. The potential 

costs of climate change are huge, estimated as being up to 20 per cent of global 

Gross Domestic Product. Mitigating these effects will require decisive international, 

national and local action. So a critical question for this consultation is whether 

councils have the right powers and responsibilities to help address climate change.

This consultation invites views on proposals to give local authorities a greater role in 132.

tackling climate change perhaps through local carbon budgets or other mechanisms. 

This step change in local councils’ broader strategic functions will not only support 

the future of our nation but has the potential to engage local citizens in action to 

fight climate change in a way that is meaningful for them.

The challenge

As133. Building Britain’s Future outlined there are a number of global and national 

challenges facing this country and local government has an important part to play 

in meeting these. One of the most pressing is climate change. The recent UK Low 

Carbon Transition Plan sets out how the UK will make the shift towards becoming a 

low carbon country28. We want to see councils increasingly active in reducing carbon, 

taking a key role in meeting UK carbon targets and adapting to the consequences of 

climate change.

Local authorities are already responsible for planning, building control, and 134.

management of waste. But they can also develop entirely new roles and services. We 

want the decisions that local authorities make in this area, and their performance, to 

drive for local engagement and renewal.

The current picture

Almost all (97%) of Local Strategic Partnerships chose to include one of the three 135.

carbon indicators in their Local Area Agreements (LAAs), and a significant number 

also chose the adapting to climate change indicator for their LAA. This demonstrates 

the commitment that exists in local areas for tackling new challenges beyond their 

traditional remit. But using the direct mandate they have from local people to lead 

and inspire local responses to issues like climate change is exactly what strong local 

government should be doing.

28 The UK Low Carbon Transition Plan, HM Government, 2009

Page 77



Chapter 3 Local authorities tackling climate change | 35

Climate change at a local level

To tackle climate change, Government has committed to reducing carbon 

emissions by at least 80 per cent by 2050, and to set and meet carbon budgets to 

keep us on track. This will mean huge changes in the way that we generate and 

use energy in every form, at home, at work, and at leisure, how we travel, and 

how land is managed.

As a society, we will face choices about how to make the changes that we need. 

Some choices will be best made nationally. But many will be better made – or can 

only be made – locally. Often decisions made nationally – such as on energy policy 

– will have profound effects at a local level or can only be delivered by local bodies 

and with the consent they can build.

In setting out its carbon budgets, and policies and proposals to meet them, the 

Government is presenting a national routemap for the changes we need to 

make. For this to take root, it will need to be driven in every community across the 

country. We believe that people should increasingly be able to look to their local 

authority not only to provide established services, but also to co-ordinate, tailor 

and drive the development of a low carbon economy in their area, and in a way 

that suits their preferences. The consent built through a strong and vibrant local 

debate of the choices we face will be essential to make the change a success. And 

in setting out their ambitions for carbon, where there are clear local plans with 

local support, the Government would support the goal of going beyond national 

targets on carbon.

Future options

The fact that almost all local authorities have included carbon indicators in their 136.

LAAs demonstrates local government’s commitment to help fight climate change. 

Innovative authorities are leading and inspiring local responses, including Kirklees, 

Southampton, Woking, Barnsley, Barking & Dagenham, Reigate & Banstead. The 

Carbon Reduction Commitment, which we are introducing next year, will provide a 

further incentive to action.

There is scope for councils, working with their partners including the third sector, to 137.

go further. This would build on – but not be limited to – their existing responsibilities 

for planning, transport, building control, and management of waste. The decisions 

that local authorities make in this area, and measures of their performance, should:

make it easier for individuals to judge the choices that their local authority is 

making – both on the extent and nature of their actions – and whether that 

meets their expectations and preferences, reinforcing local accountability

Page 78



36 | Strengthening local democracy

encourage the development of locally tailored responses and innovation to 

deliver the changes needed in a way that commands local support and

ensure fairness between areas, but supporting those who take an active 

approach.

Government has now set out its proposals for managing carbon budgets at the 138.

national level. We will explore the role that local government could take in meeting 

the UK carbon budgets, and how this might work at a local level. There is already a 

strong tradition of cooperative working between national and local government on 

fighting climate change. This includes reviewing the operation of the climate change 

planning policy statement, building carbon into the ‘single conversation’ that the 

Homes and Communities Agency conducts, and encouraging schemes that bring 

together initiatives at the local level.

There is also an economic role for local authorities in ensuring that communities 139.

benefit from low carbon economic development, working with Regional 

Development Agencies and others. Where relevant, this will include playing a key 

part in the establishment and successful operation of low carbon economic areas as 

announced in the Low Carbon Industrial Strategy29.

Such new roles and new activity could have profound effects – changing our 140.

expectations of what local government is and what it does for people. To unlock this 

potential, we must carefully consider what powers and resources local government 

needs, and the conditions under which they can be exercised.

Set out below are the issues which need to be addressed and possible ways in which 141.

these might be taken forward.30 Views are sought on these, which will then be used 

to shape specific policy options, in partnership with the sector. These are:

The role of local authorities in coordinating funding streams to support low 

carbon activity in local areas. This might include working with energy suppliers 

on targeting work to improve energy efficiency, and to make best use of new 

support for renewable electricity and heat. We will consider the case for greater 

local influence over the supplier obligation.

Supporting authorities who wish to offer innovative financing for energy 

efficiency and renewable energy, and perhaps even green mortgages. 

Authorities should be able to play a full role in developing local energy markets, 

acting as investor where they wish to.

Empowering authorities to deliver cost effective and publicly supported 

infrastructure plans. We will examine the degree of public support that would be 

needed to establish the case for such schemes. Local authorities may also need 

the ability to require existing, as well as new, developments to connect to heating 

schemes.

29 The UK Low Carbon Industrial Strategy, HM Government, 2009

30 Government will ensure that any schemes which fall within the definition of business support are Solutions for Business compliant

Page 79



Chapter 3 Local authorities tackling climate change | 37

Encouraging authorities to consider using their new powers under the Business 

Rates Supplements Act 2009 to raise funds to support emissions reductions 

projects, provided the link to economic development can be established.

Encouraging authorities, using existing powers, to ensure minimum energy 

efficiency standards for housing. Following the Rugg Review, we are consulting 

on proposals for a national register of private landlords to increase the 

professionalisation of the sector and help improve the quality of the worst stock 

especially where category 1 hazards under the Health and Safety Rating System 

are found. The register may also be a valuable tool in making landlords more 

aware of the reasons to improve the energy performance of their properties, and 

measures which are available to help them.

Moving planning authorities forward in their thinking about how to tackle 

climate change, and to encourage more community engagement to develop 

locally owned low carbon energy solutions. The Climate Change Planning Policy 

Statement sets out how planning should contribute to reducing emissions and 

stabilising climate change. Much has changed since this was published in 2007 

and planning authorities and other stakeholders have an opportunity to shape a 

new Planning Policy Statement to deliver innovative approaches to low carbon 

communities.

Helping, and challenging local authorities make the contribution we are asking 

from them in delivering the low carbon transport strategy, including supporting a 

shift to new technologies and promoting lower carbon transport.

We will examine how a range of possible incentives might be used to reward areas 142.

that make progress, and explore the case for developing mechanisms that will allow 

local authorities wishing to make faster progress than our national plans can do so, 

with support from less ambitious authorities. Some authorities have experimented 

with voluntary carbon trading, as part of a Local Government Information Unit 

research project looking forward to the introduction next year of the carbon 

reduction commitment. We are interested in learning from these authorities’ 

experience, in particular identifying what we can draw on to support the ideas we 

have set out here.

Some authorities may choose to put their efforts into a broad spread of 143.

activities; others may want to focus on more narrowly defined schemes. The 

common thread is that new freedoms and responsibilities will be delegated 

to councils which put in place plans that add value to our national policy, and 

that command local support.

Not all local authorities will have the capacity to be at the forefront of this issue or 144.

wish to pursue these opportunities. The aim is to support and encourage those who 

do, and to unlock the local potential and positive intent we know is there.

Page 80



38 | Strengthening local democracy

Consultation questions

How is the current national indicator system working to incentivise local 14.

authorities to take action on climate change? Should Government take 

new steps to enable local authorities to play a greater role in this agenda?

Where can local authorities add most value in meeting climate change 15.

aims, and what should Government do to help them do so, giving 

consideration to the proposals set out in this chapter?

How do we ensure that national policies reinforce local efforts – for 16.

example, around transport, renewable energy, and energy efficiency?

Page 81



Chapter 4 Sub-regional working | 39

Chapter 4

Sub-regional working

Many local authorities have come together to form partnerships across city-regions 145.

and other kinds of sub-region. Some of these partnerships have entered into Multi-

Area Agreements with central government and other partners, and the Government 

has also announced two city-region pilots. We know that this joint working is the 

right way to drive forward the economies of local areas.

As sub-regional structures grow in power and influence, it is important that greater 146.

power is matched by clear, democratic and accountable leadership. The form of 

democratic accountability that should exist will need to be considered as partnerships 

move forward and this chapter sets out the issues and options to be considered.

The challenge

People rightly expect councils to be the centre of decision making for their local 147.

area. However the challenges that they face often do not fit neatly into current 

administrative boundaries. Councils increasingly need to work together to tackle 

difficult issues and improve outcomes for citizens. This is particularly the case on 

economic challenges, as the area across which local economies function is often 

significantly larger than the area covered by any one local authority. Councils and 

other agencies have started to come together in voluntary partnerships to drive 

economic growth in their areas and to take joint decisions about important issues 

such as housing, regeneration, employment and skills.

The Government believes that joint working between authorities is the best way to 148.

deliver improvements in economic outcomes and has been encouraging councils 

to cooperate more closely through mechanisms such as Multi-Area Agreements 

(MAAs). This has led to a growth in sub-regional working to address issues which 

cross council boundaries but are not so large as to need a regional approach.

As these partnerships of authorities have developed it has become more difficult for 149.

citizens to understand who is doing what on their behalf. It is vital that local people 

and organisations understand how these partnerships work, and how they can 

influence what takes place at this higher level. 

Page 82



40 | Strengthening local democracy

We want to ensure that existing and planned mechanisms for joint working 150.

between authorities at the sub-regional or city-regional level are as 

accessible, transparent and accountable as possible.

We also want to look ahead to the longer term. In 151. Building Britain’s Future, the 

Government committed to a debate about the powers that should be devolved 

to the city-regional level. If city- and sub-regional structures are to assume greater 

responsibilities, it is all the more critical that they are fully accountable to local 

residents.

The acid tests for ensuring the accountability of mechanisms for city- and sub-152.

regional working have to be:

Are citizens clear about how those arrangements work and what they do?

Do people know who is making the decisions?

How can citizens hold them to account through the local democratic process – 

and what does this mean for getting the right form of democratic accountability 

at that level?

The current picture

Multi-Area Agreements

MAAs are voluntary agreements between a group of local authorities, other local 153.

partners and the Government to deliver particular improvements for an area. MAAs 

derive their democratic legitimacy and political accountability from both the local 

and national level as they are agreed through negotiations between a partnership of 

local authorities and central government. They also have specific local accountability 

arrangements, tailored to individual partnerships – for example, joint governing 

boards made up of local authority leaders with delegated authority to oversee 

partnership activity.

Page 83



Chapter 4 Sub-regional working | 41

MAAs and city-region pilots

There are currently ten multi-area agreements (MAAs) with a further six 

agreements in prospect. When these agreements are signed, MAA partnerships 

will cover 70 top-tier authorities and 37 per cent of the English population.

Common themes across most MAAs are employment, skills, transport and 

housing. Beyond the powers already available to the member local authorities, 

MAA partnerships do not have formal powers. However, the Government 

has agreed through MAAs to provide certain freedoms and flexibilities to 

partnerships to help them accelerate local growth and improve services to the 

public.

The Local Democracy, Economic Development and Construction (LDEDC) Bill will 

give groups of authorities the option of creating an MAA with statutory duties. 

This will mean that authorities and their partners will be under a formal duty to 

co-operate in agreeing and delivering the MAA’s targets, and places such MAAs 

on a similar statutory footing to LAAs. However, creating an MAA with duties will 

not in and of itself lead to greater powers or flexibilities.

Two of the existing MAA partnerships – Greater Manchester and Leeds City 

Region – have been announced as City Region pilots. They will benefit from 

increased flexibilities than those currently available to MAAs, including the 

stronger integration of planning, housing, transport, regeneration, employment 

and skills programmes, which are intended to increase their ability to drive 

sustainable growth.

Formal sub-regional structures

Other, more formal, sub-regional structures are available to groups of local 154.

authorities to help them address specific issues. These include joint waste authorities 

and integrated transport authorities.

Further sub-regional structures are planned to allow for formal joint working 155.

between authorities on economic development and regeneration. These new 

structures will be known as ‘Economic Prosperity Boards’ (EPBs). Our intention 

is to also allow councils to create ‘combined authorities’, so that the economic 

development and regeneration functions of an Economic Prosperity Board can be 

brought together with the transport functions of Integrated Transport Authorities 

into a single body. These developments take the MAA approach further by allowing 

those local authorities who wish to, to create legally recognised, corporate bodies 

that can take on economic development responsibilities across their combined area.

Page 84



42 | Strengthening local democracy

All of these existing and planned sub-regional structures derive democratic legitimacy 156.

through elected councillors from their member local authorities controlling their 

activities.

Regional developments

The Local Democracy Economic Development and Construction Bill provides for the 157.

establishment in each region of a Leaders’ Board, made up of local authority leaders 

from the region, which will work in partnership with the Regional Development 

Agency to prepare a regional strategy. Local authorities in each region will need to 

prepare a scheme for the establishment and operation of a Leaders’ Board.  Before 

approving a scheme, the Secretary of State will need to be satisfied that the scheme 

adequately addresses a number of issues. These include how the Leaders’ Board will 

be held to account by local authorities, how it will be representative of all significant 

political parties and how it will engage with the Regional Development Agency, in 

particular the process by which joint decisions will be made. The planned guidance 

on Leaders’ Boards will cover these issues and set out how the Secretary of State 

will take them into account in approving the schemes put forward by the local 

authorities.

Accountability

There are various mechanisms in place or planned for holding these formal sub-158.

regional bodies, referred to above, to account and to allow local people to get 

involved in their activities. These include:

a planned requirement on new structures for their board and committee 

meetings to be open to the public, and papers and minutes available for 

inspection, as is already the case for existing structures

an intention for the ‘duty to involve’ to apply to Integrated Transport Authorities, 

Economic Prosperity Boards and combined authorities, meaning that they will 

need to take steps to ensure local people are consulted and can get involved

a planned requirement on principal local authorities to promote understanding 

of their sub-regional arrangements, including any formal structures that they are 

engaged in

an intention to enable local authorities to establish joint overview and scrutiny 

arrangements to allow them to examine any matter that is of relevance to the 

area. Authorities could use this mechanism to establish a committee that would 

be able to scrutinise the activity of local authorities working together at the sub-

regional level

Page 85



Chapter 4 Sub-regional working | 43

Future options

Good progress has been made in developing mechanisms for joint working between 159.

local authorities. This is delivering valuable results for local people by ensuring that 

councils and other key organisations in an area are working towards common goals.

Over the long term, we want to see an even stronger role, with greater responsibility, 160.

for city- and sub-regional level working as this provides the best fit for real local 

economies. Given this, it is the right time to look at how the accountability and the 

transparency of these structures can be strengthened, so that any greater powers for 

the sub-regional tier go hand-in-hand with strengthened accountability.

In the first instance there is a strong case for strengthening existing and planned 161.

structures through:

requiring the activity of sub-regional partnerships to be subject to scrutiny 

arrangements

enabling joint overview and scrutiny committees to require sub-regional 

structures, and their partners, to provide them with a broader range of 

information and to consider their recommendations on sub-regional matters and

applying a duty to respond to petitions to apply to Integrated Transport 

Authorities, Economic Prosperity Boards and combined authorities31.

These options would give individual councils greater ability to hold sub-regional 162.

structures to account, on behalf of local citizens. Applying a duty to respond to 

petitions would also make these structures more directly responsive to citizens.

This raises the question of whether sub-regional structures are sufficiently visible 163.

and accountable to citizens. If they are to be granted significant powers and 

responsibilities, it is vital that local people are able to understand and be involved 

in the arrangements that are in place to manage activity and make decisions at 

this level.

Any new proposals will need to fit with the ideas set out in the first chapter of this 164.

consultation of local residents understanding of where they can hold local services 

in an area to account. We also wish to raise the question of whether citizens should 

be more directly involved in electing representatives to structures at this level, if 

significant additional powers, as was the case with London, are to be granted. Any 

reforms in this area would of course require public support. Whilst the government’s 

policy on mayoral governance at local authority level remains as outlined early in 

chapter 2, we are interested to hear views on other possible options including:

31 Using powers under clause 20 of Local Democracy Economic Development and Construction Bill

Page 86



44 | Strengthening local democracy

establishing ‘city-region leaders’ – existing sub-regional partnerships could elect, 

from among their members, a single leader who would be a figurehead for the 

partnership. This would not lead to more powers but would provide greater 

visibility for the work of the partnership to citizens

creating new sub-regional local authorities – rather than current and planned 

sub-regional bodies, which are limited to specific issues such as economic 

development and transport, new sub-regional local authorities could be 

established with a much wider range of powers. Any direct elections to these 

authorities would lead to greater engagement with the sub-regional level but 

there would need to be a clear division of responsibilities between the new and 

existing tiers, and scrutiny could be complex

mayors for city- and sub-regions – executive mayors with powers over strategic 

issues could be created for city- or other sub-regional areas and be directly 

elected by the population. This would provide strong accountability but there 

would again need to be a clear division of responsibilities. The role of existing 

local authorities would be reduced, although they could scrutinise the activity of 

the mayor

a combination of a directly elected executive mayor and directly elected sub-

regional scrutiny body – this is similar to the model of the mayor and assembly 

established in London. The mayor would have executive power, potentially over 

a wide range of issues, and would be held to account by a body of people directly 

elected by citizens for that purpose.

Page 87



Chapter 4 Sub-regional working | 45

Consultation questions:

Should the activity of sub-regional partnerships be required to be subject 17.

to scrutiny arrangements?

Should councils’ joint overview and scrutiny committees be able to require 18.

sub-regional bodies to provide them with information on the full range 

of their activities and to consider their recommendations on sub-regional 

matters?

Should the duty to respond to petitions be extended to sub-regional 19.

bodies?

Do current and planned models for joint working give people a clear 20.

enough voice in decisions that are made sub-regionally?

How could we go further to make existing and planned city- and sub-21.

regional structures more accountable, in addition to the suggestions in this 

document?

Should we give more powers and responsibilities to city- and sub-regions? 22.

If so, what powers or responsibilities should be made available?

Is there a need for direct democratic accountability at the sub-regional 23.

level? What would be the best means of achieving this, giving 

consideration to the options set out above?

Page 88



46 | Strengthening local democracy

Chapter 5

Clear relationships with local 
government

165. This section explores whether we can – and should – find a way of better articulating 

the relationship between central and local government to support the aims of 

stronger local democracy and stronger local government.

166. This would clearly demonstrate the degree of power, and therefore responsibility, 

that local councils have to act on the behalf of their local citizens. It will also 

help show where accountability does – and should continue to – lie with central 

government.

167. The key proposals cover consideration of a series of principles on which central-local 

relations should operate as a framework for future policy; and possible mechanisms 

to support such principles such as a Parliamentary select committee or ombudsman 

style arrangement.

The challenge

Citizens are entitled to clarity about what their council can do for them and about 168.

how they themselves can be involved in their council’s affairs. They also need to know 

when and how central government influences those affairs and intervenes in such 

services. The quality and clarity of relationships between central government, local 

government, and citizens is at the heart of any well-functioning local democracy.

Every council has its own legitimacy derived from election by its citizens. That direct 169.

mandate is the reason why councils need clear space to operate in, respected by 

central government and its agencies. To serve our citizens best, the relationship 

between central and local government should be one of trust, challenge and 

meaningful engagement. Our challenge now is to look at this relationship, and 

consider whether we would work together better if we did so within a more formal 

framework.

Page 89



Chapter 5 Clear relationships with local government | 47

Current picture

The tradition of democratic local government is long standing in our country, 170.

extending back to the mid 19th century and to a limited extent far earlier. It has 

underpinned a succession of Local Government Acts and other legislation.

This Government has consistently recognised the need to give proper 171.

acknowledgement to local government and has supported councils in becoming 

more effective, efficient and responsive leaders of their communities. In 1998, the 

Government ratified the European Charter on local self government, which sets out 

certain standards and principles that are essential to any well-functioning system of 

democratic local government. These have been accepted by 44 member states of 

the Council of Europe. This gave public and formal recognition to the role of local 

government.

Current legislation is fully compliant with those standards and principles. The way in 172.

which we engage with local government and the intiatives we have developed are 

informed by our recognition of councils independent legitimacy.

To promote this relationship further, in 1998 we worked with the Local Government 173.

Association to establish the central-local partnership as a means for on-going 

dialogue between representatives of central and local government. In December 

2007, this was further strengthened by the signing of the Central–Local Concordat 32,

following the Governance of Britain green paper published in 2007. This set out, for 

the first time, an agreed framework for how central and local government should 

work together to serve the public. This represented an important milestone in 

central-local relations and has also laid the foundations for continuing consideration 

of how best to make it clear for citizens – as well as institutions – the role and the 

rights and responsibilities of local government in relation to their communities and in 

relation to central government.

The discussion of how best to articulate and regulate the relationship between 174.

central and local government, in order to enhance local democracy and strengthen 

local government, can also be seen in the context of good administration and 

good governance, as explored in the Government’s green paper on Rights and 

Responsibilities.33

32 http://www.communities.gov.uk/publications/localgovernment/centrallocalconcordat

33 Rights and responsibilities: delivering our constitutional framework, Ministry of Justice, 2009

Page 90



48 | Strengthening local democracy

Future options

There is a rich debate about how best to frame central and local relations. This was set 175.

out recently in the Communities and Local Government Select Committee’s report 

the balance of power. This raised the issue of a constitutional settlement to provide 

a stable framework in which local government can operate. The report also raised 

the question of a greater role for Parliamentary scrutiny of central-local relations. This 

issue has greater resonance in the context of the proposed written Constitution for 

the UK. The Government are now seeking views on whether principles underpinning 

the role of local government should be formally articulated, and, if so, what form 

they should take, and how best to ensure the accountability of other central and local 

government for their commitment in practice to such principles.

A set of principles designed to articulate the most effective role of local government 176.

as argued in this consultation document might take the form set out below. These 

principles are designed with a focus on local government but they also establish core 

aspects of the relationship with central government and – crucially – with citizens:

A local government comprises councils, composed of members democratically 

elected by the citizens of a local area, and having powers and duties which 

Parliament grants, including the power to promote and improve the economic, 

social and environmental well-being of citizens in their area

B local government enables democratic local decision making and action by, and 

on behalf of, communities

C local government should be free to exercise its functions in the interests of their 

citizens without unnecessary direction or control from central government or 

other agencies, while recognising that central government should intervene 

where there is critical or sustained underperformance

D local government must exercise its functions fairly and openly, and to seek 

to ensure that all local citizens are aware of their rights and responsibilities in 

relation to those functions

E local government must seek to ensure that people are informed about what the 

council is doing, and can participate in the affairs of councils, both in accordance 

with electoral law through local elections, and through a wide range of formal 

and informal other means; these might include local polls, referendums, the 

‘councillor call for action’, petitions, neighbourhood engagement, community 

planning, consultations, public meetings and engaging with their local councillor

F all those participating in local public life should act in accordance with the Seven 

Principles of Public Life promulgated by the Committee on Standards in Public 

Life, and in line with accepted standards of financial management and efficiency. 

Those elected as members of councils have the responsibility to maintain the 

Page 91



Chapter 5 Clear relationships with local government | 49

trust of their electorate and to act in accordance with their council’s statutory 

Code of Conduct for Members

G local government should have the powers and the responsibility to provide 

leadership for its area, being responsive to its communities and having an 

understanding of their needs and priorities, so as to develop in partnership with 

local public sector partners, business, and third sectors a vision for the prosperity 

and well-being of the area which they will work together to deliver

H local government should exercise a challenge role in relation to the services 

provided for its citizens by other local and regional public service providers

Government complies already with these principles, however, there may be 177.

advantages to adopting these principles more formally. A government commitment 

to the principles would give them weight and significance in any case, but there is 

an important question of whether we could go further and put them in legislation. 

This would create new requirements and obligations on all parties concerned – every 

council as well as central government. Legislation would of course be subject to 

Parliament in the normal way.

The downside of this approach is that principles made in legislation could prove 178.

inflexible and limit the room for manoeuvre by councils and government in the 

future. For this reason this consultation is not proposing such an approach, but 

is seeking views on a more flexible approach which would still provide robust 

oversight arrangements to secure compliance with the principles. We propose an 

ombudsman style arrangement and, at a national level, if Parliament were 

to consent, a joint select committee of both Houses of Parliament as recently 

recommended by the Communities and Local Government Select Committee.

The Local Government’s Ombudsman role in terms of redress allows citizens to 

raise their concerns with an independent arbiter directly if they are unhappy with 

a local authority service. An ombudsman style arrangement could operate on a 

similar basis to cover the principles set out above. This would mean that individual 

citizens would be able to raise issues and concerns about their breach, rather than 

limiting the relevance of the principles to central and local government. It would 

be the case that recommendations from such a body would be non-binding as is 

the position for the Local Government’s Ombudsman.

A joint Parliamentary select committee could scrutinise broad adherence to 

the principles and make strategic recommendations for future policy. There is 

a strong case for a Parliamentary select committee of both Houses as set out 

by the Communities and Local Government Select Committee in their report 

on the balance of power. We do not envisage that such a committee, were it to 

be established, would scrutinise the position in individual local authorities. Of 

course, if the consultation supported the introduction of a committee on these 

lines, it would be a matter for Parliament to decide.

Page 92



50 | Strengthening local democracy

Consultation questions:

Should central and local government’s roles be more formally established?24.

What are your views on the draft principles set out above as away of 25.

achieving this ambition?

Do you agree that an ombudsman-style arrangement and a joint select 26.

committee of both Houses of Parliament are the correct approaches to 

oversee and enforce these principles, if adopted?

Page 93



Chapter 6 Consultation arrangements | 51

Chapter 6

Consultation arrangements

About this consultation

This consultation document and consultation process have been planned to adhere 179.

to the Code of Practice on Consultation issued by the Department for Business, 

Innovation and Skills and is in line with the seven consultation criteria, which are:

1. Formal consultation should take place at a stage when there is scope to influence 

the policy outcome.

2. Consultations should normally last for at least 12 weeks with consideration given 

to longer timescales where feasible and sensible.

3. Consultation documents should be clear about the consultation process, what is 

being proposed, the scope to influence and the expected costs and benefits of the 

proposals.

4. Consultation exercises should be designed to be accessible to, and clearly targeted 

at, those people the exercise is intended to reach.

5. Keeping the burden of consultation to a minimum is essential if consultations are 

to be effective and if consultees’ buy-in to the process is to be obtained.

6. Consultation responses should be analysed carefully and clear feedback should be 

provided to participants following the consultation.

7. Officials running consultations should seek guidance in how to run an effective 

consultation exercise and share what they have learned from the experience.

Representative groups are asked to give a summary of the people and organisations 180.

they represent, and where relevant who else they have consulted in reaching their 

conclusions when they respond.

Information provided in response to this consultation, including personal 181.

information, may be published or disclosed in accordance with the access to 

information regimes (these are primarily the Freedom of Information Act 2000 

(FOIA), the Data Protection Act 1998 (DPA) and the Environmental Information 

Regulations 2004).

Page 94



52 | Strengthening local democracy

If you want the information that you provide to be treated as confidential, please be 182.

aware that, under the FOIA, there is a statutory code of practice with which public 

authorities must comply and which deals, amongst other things, with obligations 

of confidence. In view of this it would be helpful if you could explain to us why you 

regard the information you have provided as confidential. If we receive a request for 

disclosure of the information we will take full account of your explanation, but we 

cannot give an assurance that confidentiality can be maintained in all circumstances. 

An automatic confidentiality disclaimer generated by your IT system will not, of itself, 

be regarded as binding on the department.

The Department for Communities and Local Government will process your personal 183.

data in accordance with the Data Protection Act and in the majority of circumstances 

this will mean that your personal data will not be disclosed to third parties. Individual 

responses will not be acknowledged unless specifically requested.

Your opinions are valuable to us. Thank you for taking the time to read this document 184.

and respond.

Are you satisfied that this consultation has followed these criteria? If not or you have 185.

any other observations about how we can improve the process please contact

CLG Consultation Co-ordinator

Zone 6/H10

Eland House

London SW1E 5 DU

or by e-mail to: consultationcoordinator@communities.gsi.gov.uk

Summary of consultation questions

CHAPTER 1: LOCAL GOVERNMENT AT THE CENTRE OF DECISION MAKING 

1. Do you agree that we should extend scrutiny powers in relation to Local Area 

Agreement (LAA) partners to cover the range of their activities in an area, not just 

those limited to specific LAA targets? 

2. Do we need to make scrutiny powers more explicit in relation to local councils’ role in 

scrutinising expenditure on delivery of local public services in an area? If so, what is the 

best way of achieving this?

3. Do you agree that we should bring all or some of the local public services as set out in 

this chapter fully under the local authority scrutiny regime? Are there other bodies who 

would benefit from scrutiny from local government?

Page 95



Chapter 6 Consultation arrangements | 53

4. How far do you agree that we should extend scrutiny powers to enable committees 

to require attendance by officers or board members of external organisations to give 

evidence at scrutiny hearings, similar to the powers already in existence for health 

and police?

5. What more could be done to ensure that councils adequately resource and support the 

local government scrutiny function to carry out its role to full effect?

6. How can council leaders ensure that scrutiny is a core function of how their 

organisations do business and have a full and proper role in scrutinising the full range 

of local public services?

7. What more could be done to better connect and promote the important role of local 

government scrutiny to local communities, for example citizens as expert advisers to 

committees?

CHAPTER 2: STRONG LOCAL GOVERNMENT OPERATING IN THE LOCAL 
INTEREST

8. How best should any reduction in numbers of LAA targets ensure that services 

are responsive to the most important local needs and priorities as well as national 

entitlements?

9. Should councils have a power to engage in mutual insurance arrangements?

10. Are there other powers need to cover engagement in further complex arrangements 

of a possibly speculative nature outside of existing powers? 

11. Do you agree that greater powers should be premised on demonstration of local 

confidence? How should this be demonstrated? How can councils best reverse the 

decline in confidence?

12. Are there core issues that should have greater council control which councils believe 

they are currently prevented from undertaking? If so what are they and what is the case 

for councils to take on these roles?

13. Do you agree that there should be a review of the structure of local partnerships with 

a view to identifying unhelpful overlap and duplication? Are there particular issues on 

which such a review should focus?

CHAPTER 3: LOCAL AUTHORITIES TACKLING CLIMATE CHANGE

14. How is the current national indicator system working to incentivise local authorities to 

take action on climate change? Should Government take new steps to enable local 

authorities to play a greater role in this agenda?

Page 96



54 | Strengthening local democracy

15. Where can local authorities add most value in meeting climate change aims, and what 

should Government do to help them do so, giving consideration to the proposals set 

out in this chapter?

16. How do we ensure that national policies reinforce local efforts – for example, around 

transport, renewable energy, and energy efficiency?

CHAPTER 4: SUB-REGIONAL WORKING

17. Should the activity of sub-regional partnerships be required to be subject to scrutiny 

arrangements?

18. Should councils’ joint overview and scrutiny committees be able to require sub-

regional bodies to provide them with information on the full range of their activities 

and to consider their recommendations on sub-regional matters?

19. Should the duty to respond to petitions be extended to sub-regional bodies?

20. Do current and planned models for joint working give people a clear enough voice in 

decisions that are made sub-regionally? 

21. How could we go further to make existing and planned city- and sub-regional 

structures more accountable, in addition to the suggestions in this document?

22. Should we give more powers and responsibilities to city- and sub-regions? If so, what 

powers or responsibilities should be made available?

23. Is there a need for direct democratic accountability at the sub-regional level? 

What would be the best means of achieving this, giving consideration to the options 

set out above?

CHAPTER 5: CLEAR RELATIONSHIPS WITH LOCAL GOVERNMENT

24. Should central and local government’s roles be more formally established?

25. What are your views on the draft principles set out above as away of achieving this 

ambition?

26. Do you agree that an ombudsman-style arrangement and a joint select committee of 

both Houses of Parliament are the correct approaches to oversee and enforce these 

principles, if adopted?

Page 97



Annex A Local government scrutiny committee powers | 55

Annex A

Local government scrutiny committee 
powers

Current powers Potential future powers

Information can be required from:

provision and operation of health services 
in the area

rescue authorities, probation authorities 
and parish councils in relation to crime 
and disorder functions

information relates to an LAA target that 
the partner authority has signed up to 
(pending regulations)*

Enabling scrutiny committees to use their 
powers to require LAA partner authorities 
to provide information on issues not 
directly related to LAA targets**

and

Extend the power to require information 
from a wider range of authorities and 
bodies that carry out public services 
locally, for example to utility companies, 
and to sub-regional partnerships.

Attendance before the scrutiny committee 
can be required from:

police authorities, fire and rescue 
authorities, probation authorities and 
parish councils in relation to crime and 
disorder functions

Extend the power to require attendance 
to a wider range of authorities and bodies 
carrying out public services locally and to 
sub-regional partnerships. 

Page 98



56 | Strengthening local democracy

Current powers Potential future powers

Reports and recommendations can be 
made to:

council

rescue authorities, probation authorities 
and parish councils

copied to LAA partner authorities

The current arrangements on receipt of 
scrutiny reports and recommendations vary. 
For example, LAA partners are required to 
‘have regard’ to recommendations, but not 
required to respond formally, unlike the 
council, local NHS bodies or police forces 
etc.

Extend the power for scrutiny committees 
to make reports and recommendations 
to a wider range of authorities and bodies 
carrying out public services locally and to 
sub-regional partnerships.

Extend the current arrangements to 
require a wider range of authorities and 
bodies carrying out public services locally 
to consider and formally respond to 
scrutiny reports and recommendations 
and to sub-regional partnerships.

**The duty to co-operate in regard to LAAs applies to: unitary and county authorities, district authorities, 
Environment Agency, Natural England, fire and rescue authorities, JobCentre Plus, Health and Safety 
Executive, Broads Authority, national park authorities, youth offending teams, police authorities, probation 
trusts and other providers of probation services, Transport for London Chief Officer of Police, joint waste 
authorities, primary care trusts, NHS trusts, NHS foundation trusts, regional development agencies, 
Learning and Skills Council, Sport England, English Heritage, Arts Council, Museum and Libraries Archives 
Council, Highways Agency, metropolitan passenger transport authorities, Homes and Communities 
Agency, any other organisations added by an order under section 104(7) of the Local Government and 
Public Involvement in Health Act 2007.

**Appropriate measures will be put in place, to ensure the protection of sensitive information, if these 
proposals on information provision are to be taken forward.

Page 99



ISBN 978-1-4098-1710-9

9 781409 817109
ISBN: 978-1-4098-1710-9

Page 100



Corporate Scrutiny July 09 

CHESHIRE EAST COUNCIL 
 

REPORT TO:  CORPORATE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
____________________________________________________________________ 
 
Date of Meeting: 

 
1 September 2009 

Report of: Borough Solicitor 
Subject/Title: Forward Plan 
___________________________________                                                                       
 
 
1.0 Report Summary 
 
1.1 To consider the current Forward Plan in relation to the remit of this Committee. 
 
2.0 Recommendations 
 
2.1 That the Committee note the Forward Plan, identify any new items and 

determine whether any further examination of new issues is appropriate. 
 
3.0 Reasons for Recommendations 
 
3.1 The Forward Plan can be a useful tool for Scrutiny to assist with identifying  
           future items for consideration. 
 
4.0 Wards Affected 
 
4.1 All 
 
5.0 Local Ward Members  
 
5.1 Not applicable. 
 
6.0 Policy Implications including - Climate change 
                                                              - Health 
 
6.1 Not known at this stage. 
 
7.0 Financial Implications for Transition Costs (Authorised by the Borough 

Treasurer) 
 
7.1 None identified at the moment. 
 
8.0 Financial Implications 2009/10 and beyond (Authorised by the Borough 

Treasurer) 
 
8.1 Not known at this stage. 
 
9.0 Legal Implications (Authorised by the Borough Solicitor) 

Agenda Item 12Page 101



Corporate Scrutiny July 09 

 
9.1 None. 
 
10.0 Risk Management  
 
10.1 There are no identifiable risks. 
 
11.0 Background and Options 
 
11.1 The Forward Plan 1 September to 31 December 2009 is attached. The  

Committee is asked to note the plan, to identify any new items and to decide 
whether any further examination of new issues is appropriate. 

 
12.0 Overview of Year One and Term One Issues 
 
12.1 It is good practice for Scrutiny to regularly consider the Forward Plan in so far 

as it relates to the Committee’s remit. 
 
13.0 Access to Information 
 

          The background papers relating to this report can be inspected by contacting the report 
writer: 

 
 Name:    Mark Nedderman 
 Designation: Senior Scrutiny Officer 

           Tel No:   01270 529640 
            Email:    mark.nedderman@cheshireeast.gov.uk 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 102



 
FORWARD PLAN 1 SEPTEMBER 2009 - 31 DECEMBER 2009 

 
This Plan sets out the key decisions which the Executive expect to take over the next four months. 
The Plan is rolled forward every month. It will next be published in mid September and will then 
contain all key decisions expected to be taken between 1 October 2009 and 31 January 2010.  
Key decisions are defined in the Councils Constitution. 
 
Reports relevant to key decisions, and any listed background documents may be viewed at any of 
the Councils Offices/Information Centres 6 days before the decision is to be made.  Copies of, or 
extracts from these documents may be obtained on the payment of a reasonable fee from the 
following address:- 
 
Democratic Services Team 
Cheshire East Council , 
c/o Westfields, Middlewich Road, Sandbach Cheshire CW11 1HZ 
Telephone:  01270 529736 
 
However, it is not possible to make available for viewing or to supply copies of reports or 
documents, the publication of which is restricted due to confidentiality of the information contained. 
 
A decision notice for each key decision is published within 6 days of it having been made.  This is 
open for public inspection on the Council's Website, Council Information Centres and Council 
Offices. 
 
The law and the Council's Constitution provides for urgent key decisions to be made.  A decision 
notice will be published for these in exactly the same way. 
 
 

Page 103



 
Forward Plan 1 September 2009 to 31 December 2009 

 

Key Decision Decisions to be Taken Decision 
Maker 

Expected Date 
of Decision 

Proposed  
Consultation 

How to make 
representation to the 

decision made 

CE09/10-06 
Crewe Green 
Link Road 
Project 

To consider a highways scheme to open up 
a strategic employment site at Basford East, 
to adopt the business case, refresh a 
decision to make a compulsory purchase 
order, and to note the financial implications 
and risk. 

Cabinet 6 Oct 2009 Statutory consultations 
have been carried out 
and will continue at each 
stage of the process. 
 
 

John Nicholson, 
Strategic Director Places 
 

CE09/10-07 
Free Early 
Years Care for 
Children of 3 - 4 
Years of Age 

To determine the form of the single funding 
formula mechanism to be used to fund both 
maintained and non-maintained childcare 
providers to provide the free early years 
entitlement to 3 and 4 year old children in 
line with the Authorities statutory duties.  
The single funding formula must be 
implemented for all early years childcare 
providers from 1 April 2010 to comply with 
DCSF requirements. 

Cabinet 8 Sep 2009 Maintained, private and 
voluntary childcare 
providers to be 
consulted on an ongoing 
basis through the Early 
Years Reference Group 
and Schools Forum. 
 
 

John Weeks, Strategic 
Director People 
 

P
a
g

e
 1

0
4



 
Key Decision Decisions to be Taken Decision 

Maker 
Expected Date 
of Decision 

Proposed  
Consultation 

How to make 
representation to the 

decision made 

CE09/10-10 Off 
Street Parking 
Charges in the 
Area of the 
Former 
Congleton 
Borough Council 

To consider the results of the consultation 
on the introduction of charging for off street 
parking in the wards of the former 
Congleton Borough Council.   
(Previously considered by Cabinet on 16 
June and 17 July) 

Cabinet 8 Sep 2009 With Local Area 
Partners, members of 
Strategic Partnerships, 
Police, Fire, Statutory 
Notices, Town and 
Parish Councils, by 
letter, presentations, 
advertisements in local 
publications, notices on 
car parks affected.  21 
day consultation process 
with general public. 
 
 

John Nicholson, 
Strategic Director Places 
 

CE09/10-21 
Community 
Transport 
Strategy 

To determine the future basis for 
procurement and integration of community 
transport and other pre booked transport 
services. 

Cabinet 6 Oct 2009 Consultation and 
stakeholder engagement 
was included within the 
preparation of the 
community transport 
strategy produced by 
Cheshire County Council 
and adopted by this 
Council. Current 
consultation is being 
carried out with the two 
main service providers. 
 
 

John Nicholson, 
Strategic Director Places 
 

P
a
g
e
 1

0
5



 
Key Decision Decisions to be Taken Decision 

Maker 
Expected Date 
of Decision 

Proposed  
Consultation 

How to make 
representation to the 

decision made 

CE09/10-26 
Connect 2 - 
European 
Regional 
Development 
Fund 

To enter into a contract with the North West 
Development Agency to develop pedestrian 
and cycle links between Nantwich and 
employment sites in Crewe. 

Cabinet 8 Sep 2009 Local consultation has 
taken place as part of 
the development of the 
proposal and will 
continue prior to 
implementation. 
 
 

John Nicholson, 
Strategic Director Places 
 

CE09/10 -27 
Tendering for 
the Council's 
Requirement for 
a Customer 
Relationship 
Management 
Solution 

To approve the procurement of a Customer 
Relationship Management (CRM) Solution 
for the Cheshire East Council, and the 
procurement process to be used and, 
subsequently, to enter into a contract with 
the organisation providing the most 
economically advantageous solution to the 
Council and its customers. 

Cabinet 6 Oct 2009 With elected Members 
and community partners 
including the police and 
PCT. 
 
 

John Barrett, ICT 
Manager 
 P

a
g

e
 1

0
6


	Agenda
	2 Minutes of Previous Meeting
	6 2008/09 Performance Outturn/ Performance Inheritance
	Peormance 09.09 Appendix 1
	Peformance 09.09  Appendix 2

	8 Work Programme Progress Report
	WorkProgramme July 09(updated) version 3 with DB

	10 Start Time of Meetings
	11 Strengthening Local Democracy - DCLG Consultation
	DCLG Consult strengthening Local Democ 09.09

	12 Forward Plan
	Plan pub 15 August 2009


